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Introduction and Director-General’s Overview
 
This past year has been an exciting, rewarding and challenging one. I am particularly pleased 
that the Ministry of Health’s reorganisation is largely complete. Our new Executive Leadership 
Team (ELT) was confirmed in December 2007 and is providing valued leadership to achieve 
a higher performing health and disability system. We are clear on our direction of travel and 
the importance of accelerated sector collaboration is strongly endorsed. We have a clear 
focus on the Minister’s priorities. Each priority is led by a cross-Ministry team and has its own 
deliverables and output plan agreed with the Ministry’s ELT. Each priority has milestones that are 
tracked and reported on monthly. All are making progress. 

The Ministry of Health has many roles, some of which are not well understood by the public 
but are core functions of a modern, publicly funded health and disability system. These 
include: policy advisor, legislator, regulator and funder. From within a Vote of $11.9 billion in 
2007/08, we administered some $2.3 billion in funding across a broad range of non-devolved 
programmes and services, including disability support, public health and personal health 
services. We also provided shared support services to the sector, for example, we processed 
almost 90 million payment transactions for the sector in this past year. As the government’s 
principal policy advisor, we provided advice on improving health outcomes, strengthening the 
health and disability system, reducing inequalities and increasing participation, and improving 
nationwide and regional collaboration and co-ordination within and across sectors. 

This year also saw the development of the 10 Health Targets, and we have seen every DHB 
making progress against them. We can demonstrate we are improving system performance 
through our collective work. Looking at just two targets, we’ve reduced smoking rates among 
young people and we have fewer avoidable hospital admissions for children under five.  
Progress in both areas gives us pause to acknowledge the benefits accruing to New Zealanders.  
Every extra 14 to 15-year-old student who has never smoked (now up to 57.2 percent and 
surpassing the target of 56 percent) means we’ve a better chance they won’t join New Zealand’s 
600,000 smokers or be one of the 5000 people who die from smoking-related disease.  
Similarly, each avoidable hospital admissions for children under five deserves recognition. The 
latest 12-month national data show that avoidable hospital admissions dropped by nearly 
7 percent (or by some 1232 admissions) across all ethnic groups as of September 2007. 

I am also pleased with the progress the Sector Capability and Innovation Directorate is making in 
supporting the sector on programme delivery and the implementation of key policies, such as in 
primary health care and an enhanced quality improvement agenda. 

Work is well advanced on the Long-Term System Framework, which will provide a guide to allow 
us to better respond to current and future challenges and to facilitate greater collaboration 
across the sector. A comprehensive environmental scan identifying future challenges to help 
DHBs undertake long-term planning was completed during the year, and the processes for 
national and regional decision-making reviewed.  

This Annual Report sets out the Ministry of Health’s financial and non-financial performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 and analyses our progress towards a fair and functional 
health system. This report includes detailed information on the Ministry’s roles and functions, 
and outlines progress towards the outcomes detailed in the Ministry’s 2007–2010 Statement 
of Intent. 
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Highlights from 2007/08
 

• The national Depression Initiative won a gold award for the best 

not-for-profit advertising campaign at the nZ Advertising Effectiveness Awards 

• national implementation of B4 School Checks started, after successful pilots 

in two DHBs • led the sector in developing a long-Term System Framework 
• Delivered a suite of advice and initiatives to progress workforce planning 
• led new Zealand’s pandemic planning and developed internationally 

best-practice response plan • Implemented programme of work with DHBs to improve 

the sector focus on quality and safety in health service delivery • launched 

�0 health sector targets • national Systems Development 
Programme improved the reliability of the payment system, Proclaim and other 

related systems • Recoveries or savings of $��.2 million made as 

a result of 420 audits and �03 investigations • Four regional cancer networks 
established • Intensive tobacco control programmes implemented in 

four high-needs DHBs • DHB co-ordination plots on suicide prevention 
established in five DHBs • 4�04 Ministerials and 2297 replies to 

Parliamentary Questions drafted • 8�9 briefings and speeches 
provided • 696 responses to requests for official information prepared 

• 350 responses to written Health Select Committee questions prepared 

• 200 committee appointments managed • Two DHB service reviews 
undertaken • A national information system for needs Assessment 
Service Co-ordinators implemented • Almost 90 million payments made 

to the health and disability system within key performance indicators and with 

increased stakeholder satisfaction • �525 new and changed medicines 
evaluated for their safety, effectiveness and quality • 46 audits undertaken 

for licences to manufacture medicines and licences to pack, under the Medicines Act �98� 

• �235 complaints and 43 investigations of breaches under the Medicines 

Act �98� investigated • 89,765, 3�7 claim or invoice items and capita

tion records processed and paid • �0,095 agreements produced and processed • 

�4,044 contract monitoring reports loaded into the contract management 

systems • 86, 903 applications for eligibility processed within agreed timeframes. 
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System funding
Financial resources are
secured for the system
and are allocated on a
fair and transparent
basis within it.

System capability
Ensuring (within the ambit
of the Ministry’s functions)
that the key inputs –
including physical
resources, workforce, and
information – are in place.
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Our Focus
 
Within the legislative framework of the New Zealand Public Health and Disability (NZPHD) Act 
2000, the strategic direction of the health sector is set by two overarching strategic documents: 
the New Zealand Health Strategy (2000) and the New Zealand Disability Strategy (2001). These two 
strategies are supported by other, more targeted, strategies that provide guidance and advice in 
areas such as Māori health, Pacific health and primary health care. 

The Ministry has developed an outcomes framework to reflect the directions identified by these two 
overarching strategies. The framework identifies nine societal and system outcomes.1 The Ministry 
has concentrated on the outcomes of better health and reduced inequalities during 2007/08. 

Figure 1: The Ministry of Health’s outcomes framework 

Better 
health 

The best possible 
improvement in 
New Zealanders’ 
health status and 
quality of life over 
time, within the 

resources 
available. 

Reduced 
inequalities 

An improvement in 
the health status of 

those currently 
disadvantaged, 

particularly Māori, 
Pacific peoples 

and people with low 
socioeconomic 

status. 

Better 
participation 

and independence 
The health and 

disability support 
sector contributes 
constructively to 
having a society 
that fully values 

the lives of people 
with disabilities. 

Trust 
and security 

New Zealanders feel 
secure that they are 

protected by the system 
from substantial 

financial costs due to ill 
health, and trust it 

because it performs to 
high standards, reflects 
their needs and provides 

opportunities for 
community participation. 

Healthy New Zealanders 

Effectiveness 

The system as a 
whole and the 

services 
provided within 
the system are 

effective in 
contributing to 

the end outcome 
of healthy 

New Zealanders. 

Efficiency 
and value for 

money 

The system 
operates 

efficiently and 
services deliver 
relatively large 
gains in health 
status for each 

unit of resource. 

Intersectoral 
focus 

Social, 
environmental, 
economic and 
cultural factors 

are influenced to 
reduce their 

negative impacts 
and increase their 
positive impacts 
on end outcomes 
for the health and 
disability system. 

Equity and 
access 

New Zealanders 
in similar need of 
services have an 

equitable 
opportunity to 

access equivalent 
services and 
resources are 
allocated in a 
manner that 

reduces inequity 
of outcomes. 

Quality 

Health and 
disability support 

services are 
clinically sound, 

culturally competent 
and well 

co-ordinated and 
ongoing service 

quality 
improvement 

processes are in 
place. 

A fair and functional health system 

3 

Monitoring of the performance of the system and of specific organisations within it are used 
to improve the design and operation of the system including the performance of organisations 

within it. 

System monitoring 

Operating environment 
Unnecessary constraints on participants in the system are minimised 
and there are widely understood mechanisms and structures in place 

to protect public safety and equity. 

Direction of leadership 
There is a coherent, stable and widely understood direction for the system, informed 
by evidence and horizon scanning. Resourcing and incentives are aligned with this 

direction (including collaboration, co ordination and service development). 

Ensuring the system works for all New Zealanders 

1  Reporting against these outcomes is covered in detail in the Health and Independence Report. This is a statutory report that fulfils 
the Minister of Health’s responsibilities under the NZPHD Act 2000 to report annually on the implementation of the New Zealand 
Health Strategy and on progress implementing the Quality Improvement Strategy. In addition, the Health and Independence Report 
fulfils the Director-General’s obligation under the Health Act 1956 to report on the state of public health. 

Each year the Minister identifies specific areas to focus on, and these form the basis for much 
of the Ministry’s work programme. The Minister’s priorities during 2007/08 were chronic 
disease, child and youth services, elective services, primary health care, health of older people, 
infrastructure, and value for money. The Ministry also recognised the ongoing priorities of 
improving Māori health and reducing inequalities. 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 	  

 

   

 

 

 

In addition to these priorities, the Ministry delivered a wide range of core functions to government 
and the health and disability sector. These functions related to: 

•	 strategy, policy and system performance 

•	 servicing Ministers and ministerial advisory committees 

•	 monitoring and improving the performance of District Health Boards (DHBs) and other Crown 
health entities 

•	 funding and purchasing health and disability services on behalf of the Crown 

•	 administration of legislation and regulations 

•	 providing information and payment services. 

A particular emphasis for 2007/08 has been to create a base that will assist the sector to advance 
health sector performance. Following are the initiatives beginning this year that are fundamental to 
achieving this. 

Integrating national Health Targets into the system 
Ten Health Targets were introduced with effect from 1 July 2007. Integrating the targets into the 
system helps to lift outcomes in key priority areas by providing a mechanism for measuring the level 
of benefit that has been achieved and how it is spread across population groups. DHB activities are 
supported by quarterly reporting, which allows individual DHBs’ performance to be compared with 
national benchmarks. (See pages 12 to 16 for achievements in each target area this year.) 

Implementing a new organisational structure 
A new structure took effect on 1 July 2007. This has better positioned the Ministry to support 
and lead the sector. A key feature of the new structure that has enabled this is the creation of a 
Sector Capability and Innovation Directorate to work with the sector to share learning and support 
programme delivery. 

Development of a long-Term System Framework (lTSF)  
The Ministry and DHBs, through a combined steering group, have established the LTSF, which 
is a substantial programme of work that proactively responds to the immediate and longer-term 
challenges facing the health and disability system. The LTSF has two goals: to lift the performance 
and responsiveness of the system, and to strengthen its sustainability over the long term. The 
Minister has been kept informed of progress on the LTSF and is supportive of the direction. The 
Minister, along with his cabinet colleagues, has endorsed its further development.  

Specific deliverables have included: 

•	 a report and recommendations by a Service Capacity and Quality Working Group, established to 
look at how service planning and co-ordination could be improved   

•	 a horizon scan, describing the key demographic and system issues the sector is likely to face in 
the future 

•	 case studies of recent sector events to help illustrate underlying trends 

•	 a stocktake of Ministry and District Health Boards New Zealand (DHBNZ) work programmes to 
identify planned work that is relevant to the LTSF, and gaps in the planned work 

•	 a series of nine visioning workshops, attended by approximately 300 people from across the 
sector, which drew out the participants’ vision for the future of the health system and views on 
how this vision could be achieved. 
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Our Achievements
 
The Ministry’s achievements in each of the Minister’s priority areas during 2007/08 have 
contributed to: 

• taking public and primary health care to the next level 

• a stronger health service we can trust 

• enabling a strong, sustainable health sector for the longer term.  

• a focus on Mā ori health and inequalities. 

These achievements are outlined for each priority area in the following sections.  

A: Taking public and primary health care to the next level 
Chronic disease 
Chronic (or long-term) conditions such as cardiovascular disease, cancer, arthritis and asthma 
are the leading cause of poor health and mortality in New Zealand, accounting for 80 percent 
of preventable deaths. Chronic conditions are also a significant cause of health inequalities. 
Disadvantaged groups such as Māori, Pacific people and people with low incomes have 
disproportionately higher rates of illness and mortality from chronic conditions. 

Many chronic conditions are the result of preventable and modifiable risk factors, such as poor 
nutrition, smoking, sedentary lifestyles, poor housing and alcohol consumption. Therefore, 
enhancing the prevention and management of chronic conditions and their social determinants at 
the population level will contribute to improving health and reducing inequalities.  

The Ministry addressed prevention and management through a number of different programmes 
and strategies during 2007/08.  These programmes are highlighted below. 

long-Term Conditions Programme 

The Ministry established the Long-Term Conditions Programme (LTCP) in response to the 2007 
National Health Committee Report Meeting the Needs of People with Chronic Conditions. The 
programme is developing a whole-of-system approach to managing long-term conditions in New 
Zealand. 

Work during 2007/08 focused on informing the framework through meetings with a 
wide range of leaders, academics and professionals from primary health organisations (PHOs), 
non-governmental organisations, DHBs and professional bodies. This was complemented by 
a series of nationwide hui held with the community and voluntary sector. An across-Ministry 
working group was established to achieve stronger links between different work programmes and 
encourage the whole Ministry to achieve action on chronic conditions. A Long-Term Conditions 
Framework is scheduled for completion during 2008/09. 

Cardiovascular disease and diabetes 

There were two significant accomplishments in the cardiovascular disease/diabetes work 
programme. Firstly, the Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease Quality Improvement Plan (QIP) was 
published early in 2008. The QIP establishes a nationally consistent framework for continuous 
quality improvement of clinical services for diabetes and cardiovascular disease. It sets out 
specific, practical recommendations and areas for priority actions across different clinical settings, 
and has received a positive response from the health sector. Secondly, the International Diabetes 
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Federation Western Pacific Congress was held in Wellington from 30 March to 2 April 2008, and 
was attended by approximately 2000 delegates. 

Healthy Eating − Healthy Action 

The year was also highly productive for health promotion in Healthy Eating − Healthy Action 
(HEHA). Highlights included delivering a breastfeeding social marketing campaign, a social 
marketing campaign promoting the key HEHA messages, and developing a HEHA strategy 
evaluation to determine the effectiveness HEHA implementation.  

Screening 

Under the National Screening Unit Reducing Inequalities Action Plan, all actions relating to 
BreastScreen Aotearoa and the National Cervical Screening Programme were achieved. Notably, 
the bowel cancer work programme has been scoped and is now under way, including work on 
bowel cancer screening.  

Other achievements 

2007/08 has also seen many other successful achievements in the chronic disease (long-term 
conditions) area. These include: 

•	 implementation of year one of the three-year joint work programme of Te Kōkiri: The Mental 
Health and Addiction Action Plan 

•	 establishing four regional cancer control networks under the Cancer Control Strategy Action Plan 

•	 intensive tobacco control programmes are now in place in four high-needs DHBs 

•	 a significant and well-received response to the Health Select Committee Inquiry into Obesity 
and Type 2 Diabetes 

•	 publication of Hauora: Māori Standards of Health IV.2 

Primary health care 

Good progress has been made in the last year to implement the Primary Health Care Strategy and 
deliver primary health care services. As at 1 July 2008 there were 4,040,349 people enrolled in 
primary health organisations (PHOs). The first PHOs were established in July 2002, and there are 
now 80 PHOs delivering and co-ordinating primary health care services across the country. 

Progress in achieving a low-cost access environment 

One in four New Zealanders now benefit from very low fees (no more than $16.00 for adults), and 
a process is in place to ensure practice fee increases are kept at reasonable levels. This is due to 
the fees introduced by the Very Low Cost Access (VLCA) initiative, introduced last year, and the Zero 
Fees for Under Sixes (Under 6s) scheme, introduced on 1 January 2008. Seventy percent of children 
under six years are now receiving free standard consultations through practices participating in 
either the Under 6s or the VLCA initiative. A higher percentage of Māori (84.2 percent) and Pacific 
(91.4 percent) children benefit. 

There is also an improved uptake of funding to improve the care of people with high needs for 
primary health care services. As at 1 July 2008, 124,936 people were enrolled in the Care Plus 
programme through 76 participating PHOs. This equates to 3.1 percent of the total PHO enrolled 
population (compared to 2.4 percent in July 2007).    

2 Hauora Māori Standards of Health IV was released in November 2007 by Te Rōpū Rangahau Hauora a Eru Pō mare, University of 
Otago, with the support of the Ministry of Health. 
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The Ministry is looking to DHBs to take greater ownership of issues relating to access to services 
after hours, and to manage a solution along with their PHOs. The Ministry will support DHBs to 
implement locally agreed district-wide after-hours plans in the coming year, and is developing 
a funding allocation method to effectively distribute the $9 million for after-hours allocated in 
Budget 2009. 

Work continues on rural issues, including the disbursement of the additional $5 million allocated 
to rural after-hours issues. Considerable investment has been made to fund rural initiatives aimed 
at recruitment and retention of the rural midwife workforce. 

link to long-term conditions management 

Most high-needs demand for primary health care services is caused by long-term conditions.  
DHBs and PHOs are focusing their efforts on long-term conditions management in primary health 
care settings to achieve the vision of improving health and reducing inequalities. The reduction 
in cholesterol levels for Māori enrolled in the Get Checked diabetes programme is evidence of 
improved interventions in primary health care settings for people with diabetes and related 
conditions. Progress of PHOs in the management of long-term conditions will be easier to measure 
in the future because the PHO performance programme (in which all 80 PHOs participate) places 
an increasing focus on this key area, and indicators for cardiovascular disease and diabetes are 
being implemented in 2008/09.  

Areas of focus for next year 

Sustained progress in primary health care delivery requires a continuing focus on PHO and sector 
capability and the spread of innovation within the sector. Significant investment is proposed to 
effect changes to the primary health care information environment to better support self-care, 
the identification of population health needs, co-ordinated care, evidence-based decisions and 
improved performance.  

In 2008/09 a focus will be placed on accelerating the adoption of new service delivery models, 
maintaining and improving access, and stronger emphasis on prevention and co-ordinated 
management of long-term conditions. The intention of this work is to: provide for better 
co-ordination and integration of service delivery from a service user’s perspective, take a more 
person-centred approach, and fully utilise the existing workforce. 

Child and youth services 
The Ministry’s child and youth services cover programmes ranging from the Well Child review to 
oral health and adolescent sexual health services. 

Well Child Framework 

The Well Child/Tamariki Ora Framework provides universal health assessment, health promotion 
and support services for families and children from birth to five years. A review of the content of 
the Well Child/Tamariki Ora National Schedule was completed this year. Ministers have approved 
recommended changes to the National Schedule, which will involve refocusing Well Child services 
to better address the needs of children under five and their families. Implementation of the 
review’s recommendations during 2008/09 will look at ways to increase links with the social 
development and education sectors, particularly for vulnerable families. 
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B4 School Check 

The B4 School Check is the eighth and final check of the Well Child Framework and comprises 
height, weight, vision, hearing, general health, developmental and behavioural components. 
B4 School Check pilots were successfully implemented in Whanganui DHB and Counties Manukau 
DHB this year. Evaluation of the pilots was extremely positive: 98 percent of families and 
whānau surveyed said they would recommend the check to their families and friends. The pilots 
successfully reached Māori and Pacific families, who were well represented in the sample. National 
implementation of the check began this year. The first four DHBs had started delivering B4 School 
Checks by July 2008, and the remaining 17 DHBs are expected to begin delivering checks early in 
the 2008/09 financial year. 

Oral health 

During 2007/08 the Ministry focused  on assisting DHBs to prepare service and business plans 
to improve child and adolescent oral health. This focus is consistent with the Health Target for 
oral health (see page 12 for further information on progress towards achieving this target). The 
reinvestment is required to enable the improvement of existing child oral health services and to 
enhance access to oral health services in preschool and adolescent groups. This work will continue 
in 2008/009. 

In terms of wider service delivery, the Ministry has worked closely with District Health Boards 
New Zealand (representing the contracting DHBs) and the New Zealand Dental Association 
(representing the contracting dentists) this year to address several long-standing issues in the core 
service contract. These issues were satisfactorily resolved. Changes to some of the items of service 
and pricing were implemented from 1 July 2008 as a result.   

Three Māori health providers with strong potential to contribute to a new strategic direction for 
child and adolescent oral health received funding for oral health equipment. These providers 
deliver oral health services to both Māori and other New Zealanders. 

Maternity services 
The New Zealand Maternity Vision Statement was completed towards the end of the 2007/08 
year.  The statement expresses the goal for the provision of New Zealand’s maternity services. A 
Maternity Strategy is being developed to guide funders and providers of maternity services on the 
actions required to achieve that outcome. 

Implementation of the new Primary Maternity Services Notice under section 88 of the New Zealand 
Public Health and Disability Act 2000 took effect this year. Section 88 is the mechanism for funding 
self-employed lead maternity carers, such as midwives, general practitioners, obstetricians and 
other maternity providers, for the provision of primary maternity care. The new Notice replaced the 
2002 version and increased payments for maternity providers.  

Family Violence Death Review Committee 

A Family Violence Death Review Committee was established this year to review and report to the 
Minister of Health on family violence deaths, with a view to reducing the number of these deaths.  
Once members are appointed, the Committee will initially address operational issues during 
2008/09, such as developing a data collection, storage and retrieval system. In the longer term it is 
intended that the Committee will identify changes or enhancements to systems, policies and services 
that may contribute to the prevention of family violence and family violence deaths in New Zealand. 
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Youth 

Implementation of the youth work programme got under way in 2007/08. The programme aims 
to improve youth access to health services and to support and increase knowledge, research and 
workforce capacity in youth health. It includes a project to implement school-based health services 
for students in decile 1−3 secondary schools, teen parent units, and alternative education. A 
Youth Health Advisory Group has been established to provide advice on the implementation and 
establishment of youth health services. 

Health of older people 
There is a wide range of pressures within the aged care sector, and these are increasing as more 
people are living longer and a higher proportion of the population is older. During 2007/08 the 
Ministry continued its multi-year work programme focused on improving services targeted at older 
people. The Ministry is aiming to support the stability of services, facilitate improvements in the 
quality of services, and encourage service development and sustainability. The work programme 
focused on workforce (including training), assessment, and new service developments in the 
community.  

Workforce 

Workforce is the key sustainability issue for the aged care sector. The Ministry is working to 
improve the sustainability, quality and stability of the care and support workforce by contributing 
to the Care and Support Workforce Initiative. This is a DHB-led initiative that involves union, funder, 
employer and policy representatives. The initiative has prioritised its work programme to focus on 
career pathways, competencies, and the link to training and development infrastructure.  

Assessment 

Needs assessment is used to determine older people’s level and type of support needs. It is a 
critical initial step in identifying a person’s access to publicly funded services in the community 
and entry to residential care. The Ministry has a role in improving needs assessment by 
implementing the InterRAI assessment tool across all DHBs. This is a significant infrastructure 
investment that will contribute towards building a fair and functional health system by improving 
equity and access to services. Planning for the three- to four-year implementation of the tool began 
in 2007/08. 

new services in the community 

Although New Zealand has recently made significant investments in the sector, home-based 
support services are still relatively underdeveloped. The Government has started shifting the 
relative focus from residential care towards home-based support services through higher funding 
over recent years, which is expected to reduce some of the financial pressure for services in the 
community and better meet the preferences of older people.  

The Ministry this year worked with the sector to establish and begin refining service cover for 
older people’s support services. Service cover defines the minimum range of services that should 
generally be available for older people across New Zealand. Progressing this work on service cover 
will be a key deliverable in 2008/09.  
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The Ministry also contributed to the development of the Government’s Carers’ Strategy, led by 
the Ministry of Social Development.  The Ministry has begun a review of respite care options for 
informal carers, which is one of the main actions for the health sector in the Carers’ Strategy.  This 
review looks at access to and the flexibility and reliability of respite care to support informal carers. 

Elective services 
During 2007/08 there has been significant progress made with improving access to elective 
services and improving how DHBs manage patients. 

Improving access 

There has been an increase of 12,217 (11.6 percent) elective surgical discharges from 2005/06 to 
2007/08. The increase has been funded through targeted elective services funding and by DHBs.  
Most specialties have received a significant boost to service levels.  New funding appropriated in 
2008 is expected to increase the number of elective surgical discharges by a further 5 percent. 

The increase in elective services includes the increases under the Orthopaedic Initiative (OI) and 
Cataract Initiative (CI).  The targets for these initiatives were a 50 percent increase in cataract 
procedures and a 100 percent increase in primary major hip and knee replacements. A 57 percent 
increase has been achieved for cataracts and an 81 percent increase for major joints. Some DHBs 
have reported that major joint replacement under-delivery was due to low patient need. 

A comprehensive review of the OI and CI was undertaken during 2007/08 and the findings are 
being used to inform how the initiatives will be incorporated into business as usual from 2009/10 
onwards. The review found that the initiatives have successfully increased the level of service for 
major joint replacement and cataract procedures, and have improved the quality of life of many 
New Zealanders. Sustainable capacity remains an ongoing concern for many DHBs.  

The variable capacity in DHBs to deliver the additional elective services was the catalyst for the 
development of indicators of DHB capacity for elective services. These indicators are focused on 
physical capacity, and also look at a limited number of process indicators, such as day-of-surgery 
admission rate. 

Improvements to patient flow processes 

The Elective Services Patient Flow Indicators (ESPIs) were developed to monitor how people are 
managed while waiting for elective services. For the 2007/08 year the number of DHBs that were 
compliant with the ESPIs each month ranged from 15 to 21, with 19 DHBs compliant at June 2008. 
DHBs are required to maintain ESPI compliance in order to maintain access to the additional 
elective funding managed by the Ministry. Three DHBs had access to this funding suspended 
during the year, while on a positive note 11 DHBs have been compliant for a full 12 months at the 
overall DHB level.  

There has been a focus on improving the quality and integrity of booking system information 
supplied to the Ministry from DHBs, and a cross-sector reference group has been established to 
improve this area. 

During the year an independent review was completed of 15 addressing disincentive pilots that 
were funded by the Ministry. The pilots addressed specific barriers that prevented a DHB from 
improving elective service delivery. The review concluded that the pilots had a high success 
rate. Seven criteria have been identified for the successful implementation and sustainability of 
improvements. 
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Progress has also been made with the development and implementation of clinical prioritisation 
tools. All DHBs were required to have nationally recognised prioritisation tools in place for general 
surgery from the beginning of the 2008 calendar year, and for urology and vascular from July 2008. 
Good progress has continued with the implementation of the previously developed national tools 
for hip/knee replacement, cataracts and gynaecology. New tools under development during the 
year include plastics – skin lesion removal, ENT and plastics – breast and body. 

Interface between primary and secondary care 

Significant progress has been made with the interface between primary and secondary services. 
There are now 36 GP liaisons in 20 of the 21 DHBs, which is at least a 50 percent increase on the 
previous year. Following a survey of GPs undertaken in 2007, 14 pilots were initiated across 10 
DHBs during 2007/08, aiming to improve patient access to the diagnostic assessment on referral 
from primary care. The pilots will inform the development of a new Ambulatory Initiative, which will 
commence in 2008/09.  

The Ambulatory Initiative will enable DHBs to invest in additional specialist assessments and 
outpatient procedures in 2008/09. It is expected that at least 24,000 patients will receive access to 
specialist assistance in each of the next two years, with 12,000 each year after that. It is planned that 
the Ambulatory Initiative will expand to include diagnostics when reporting mechanisms are in place. 

B: A stronger health service we can trust 
Value for money 
An emphasis on value for money has taken on increasing importance in health given that the 
government has signalled that recent increases in Vote Health are not sustainable. 

There are several areas where the Ministry has taken the lead during 2007/08 to assist the health 
and disability sector to achieve better value for money. These include: 

•	 service area reviews, including review of the Well Child initiative 

•	 DHB reviews, including reviews of Southland DHB and West Coast DHB 

•	 productivity and efficiency measurement at the DHB level, nationally and within service areas 
such as mental health.  

A key focus has also been placed on developing the capability and capacity of the health and 
disability system to apply economic analysis to decision-making processes. Three key strands of 
work have been identified as being necessary to strengthen our economic capability: 

•	 develop and clearly articulate an economic approach that is appropriate for the work of the 
Ministry 

•	 establish an institutional mechanism (internal structures and processes) for embedding and 
supporting an economic approach in the work of the Ministry, and potentially other parts of the 
health and disability system 

•	 identify and put in place appropriate resources for this mechanism. 

The Ministry’s intention is to proactively embed this work across the Ministry and the wider sector 
over 2008/09 and onwards. This will be led out of the Ministry’s Health and Disability System 
Strategy Directorate, which now has a better platform for focusing on value for money following a 
restructuring during 2007/08. 
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Health Targets 
Health Targets are the joint responsibility of the Ministry and DHBs, and are a performance 
improvement initiative designed to produce measurable gains across a number of priority areas.  
Each Target has a Ministry champion, who takes a leadership role in working with the sector.  

Implementation of the Targets involves two components: 

•	 accountability and monitoring − agreement between the Ministry and individual DHBs on 
targets to be included in DHB district annual plans, statements of intent and reporting 

•	 performance improvement support − sharing best practice and learning across the system on 
effective interventions and programmes that have a measurable impact on targets.  

Achievements for 2007/08 are as follows. 

Improving immunisation coverage 

Efforts to improve immunisation coverage are beginning to pay off, with 40,000 or 76 percent of 
all two-year-olds immunised in 2007/08 — an increase of 9 percent from the start of the 2007/08 
year. Nearly all DHBs recording significant progress towards achieving the target of 95 percent of 
two-year-olds fully immunised.  

The Ministry’s work contributed to this result by meeting with immunisation steering groups in 
most DHBs. Other deliverables during 2007/08 included: 

•	 development and dissemination of an immunisation target workbook 

•	 holding an immunisation conference for the sector, and attending conferences held by the 
sector 

•	 reviewing DHB district annual plans and negotiating the 2009/10 targets 

•	 analysing DHB quarterly reports and discussing performance with the DHBs. 

In 2008/09 the Ministry and DHBs will continue to work on identifying how to further improve 
immunisation coverage. 

Improving oral health 

The target for oral health is that progress be made towards 85 percent adolescent oral health 
utilisation. In the 2007 calendar year, more than 167,000 young people or 59 percent of eligible 
adolescents accessed dental services, approximately 1,800 more than the previous year. The 
07/08 national target has been substantially met. 

A sector meeting was held in September 2007 to build networks between the staff who promote 
access to adolescent oral health care and provide liaison between adolescents and providers (who 
are primarily private dentists). This meeting provided a valuable opportunity for the many small 
service providers to share successful and unsuccessful initiatives. DHBs with low levels of current 
access to adolescent oral health care were identified, and meetings were held to identify the issues 
in these DHBs that are contributing to low levels of access. Many of these issues require medium- 
to long-term strategies to build the available workforce and develop complementary services that 
are more focused on the needs and culture of groups that are not currently accessing care. 

The Ministry has spent considerable time examining the data available to inform the sector about 
progress with adolescent oral health service use. This work remains ongoing. 
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Improving elective services 

There are two aspects to the improving elective services Health Target: delivering an agreed 
increase in the level of elective service patient discharges, and how well people are managed while 
awaiting an elective service through maintaining compliance with ESPIs. 

Increasing elective discharges 

There was a substantial increase in elective discharges in 2007/08.  An 8.7 percent increase 
was achieved against a planned increase of 10 percent. This indicator includes surgical service 
discharges, plus dental, cardiology and some outpatient services. 

How people referred for an elective service are managed 

Thirteen DHBs achieved their ESPI target performance levels. Of these, eight achieved a rating of 
outstanding by meeting ESPI targets that exceeded the Ministry compliance threshold.  

Overall results 

Ten DHBs have achieved their Health Targets, including seven that received an outstanding rating.  
The Ministry Elective Services Team will continue to work with all DHBs to support the achievement 
of sound patient flow management processes and maximise elective services delivery. 

Reducing cancer waiting times 

Overall, the sector is achieving a consistent level of performance. During 2007/08 approximately 
97 percent of patients received radiotherapy within eight weeks and 65 percent of patients 
received treatment within the ‘best practice’ level of four weeks.  

There is a range of initiatives under way to improve waiting times for patients requiring 
radiotherapy treatment, within both the Ministry and the DHBs, including the following activities. 

•	 Investment in linear accelerators. One additional and five replacement linear accelerators were 
installed during 2007/08. This investment in linear accelerators will continue into 2008/09. 

• 	 Workforce development. There has been an increase of 50 full-time equivalents (FTEs) in the 
last two years in the non-surgical cancer workforce across the six centres. The Ministry made 
available national cancer control workforce development funding of $0.5 million in 2007/08 to 
support cancer centres to establish new graduate programmes for radiation therapists.  

• 	 Key indicator benchmarking. The Ministry, the six cancer centre DHBs, and the Radiation 
Oncology Workgroup of the New Zealand Cancer Treatment Working Party have agreed on a set 
of national key performance indicators for radiotherapy services. The sharing and comparison 
of these will inform improved management of existing capacity and provide benchmarking 
information to inform business case development for equipment at the cancer centres and 
across all DHBs.  

• 	 Development of protocols. Two protocols are being developed − one on the sharing of capacity 
between public radiation oncology centres and the other addressing the relationship with 
private cancer providers. 

Reducing ambulatory-sensitive (avoidable) admissions 

Ambulatory-sensitive hospital admissions are usually unplanned admissions that are potentially 
preventable by appropriate health services delivered in community settings, including through 
primary health care. They provide an indication of access to, and the effectiveness of, primary 
health care, as well as the management of the interface between the primary and secondary 
health sectors. 
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Ambulatory-sensitive admissions have reduced by 1.1 percent (1120 admissions) in the latest 
12-month period (through to December 2007) compared with the base year (year end to 
September 2006).  

Initiatives this year included: 

•	 DHB-led projects that involve clinicians and managers from the primary and secondary sectors 
exploring local issues affecting the rate of unplanned admissions 

•	 the initiation of an international literature review (this will be completed during 2008) 

•	 the formation of an Expert Technical Advisory Group to revise the condition codes that will be 
identified as ambulatory sensitive from 2009/10, and to provide other technical advice. 

This Health Target area has a total of 147 sub-targets, 90 percent of which were achieved, with 
14 out of 21 DHBs achieving 100 percent of their individual sub-targets. 

The reduction for children aged 0−4 years has been particularly impressive, with admissions 
reducing 6.7 percent, evenly spread across Māori, Pacific and Other. 

The experience for Māori and Pacific adults was less satisfactory, with admissions increasing for 
both groups. Approaches to reducing admissions for these population groups are particularly 
important and will require close attention going forward. 

Improving diabetes services 

More than 91,000 free annual diabetes checks were carried out during the 2008 calendar year, an 
increase of nearly 4000 or 5 percent from 2007. 

The Ministry initially surveyed all DHBs to establish the support or joint work that would be 
required for delivering on national diabetes health targets. Once this was established, the Ministry 
met with DHB planners and provided updated information on diabetes prevalence for use in the 
target indicators 

Funding was provided to update the evidence-based guidelines on which these targets are based.  
The Diabetes and Obesity Review was also funded for a three-month period to improve access to 
evidence-based information using interactive web systems, and the web users increased markedly. 
This supplements work by the DHB Research Fund to improve translational research for long-term 
conditions. 

The Quality Improvement Plan for Diabetes and Cardiovascular Disease, which was published 
in February 2008, has close links to the diabetes national Health Targets. A stocktake was 
commissioned by DHBNZ to identify gaps for increased attention. A test to measure the risk of 
cardiovascular disease for diabetes sufferers has been included in the 2008/09 Health Targets. 

The Ministry has supported the Midland and South Island regions in collaboratively developing 
information systems that allow better access by PHOs to DHBs and retinal screening information at 
regional and DHB levels. These are being deployed in 2008/09, along with upgraded information 
systems used by practices to improve the information available for patients and quality 
improvements generally.  

Further improvements are likely to require more collaboration and better information systems that 
support quality improvement by PHOs and DHBs, by linking information and integrating clinical 
services more effectively. 
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Improving mental health services 

The Ministry took an initial focus this year on gaining commitment from DHBs to the target 
objectives, communicating the target expectations and results, and assisting DHBs to make 
progress towards meeting the target. This involved presenting information to mental health group 
sector meetings, producing quarterly reporting of results, and working with DHBs to gain a better 
understanding of how progress can be achieved.  

All DHBs have responded positively to the target, and excellent results have been achieved. The 
percentage of long-term adult clients with relapse prevention plans increased from 60 percent from 
the start of the 2007/08 year, to 76 percent by the end of the year. 

In the coming year the Ministry will continue the work started in 2007/08. In addition, a focus will 
be placed on streamlining the documentation requirements for long-term clients, and exploring the 
possibility of a research strategy aimed at demonstrating the value of attaining the target. 

Improve nutrition, increase physical activity and reduce obesity 

During 2007/08 the Ministry progressed national social marketing campaigns, mechanisms for 
monitoring Health Target data/information and developed Crown funding agreements (CFAs) to 
help improve rates of breastfeeding and the consumption of fruit and vegetables.  Key pieces of 
work included: 

•	 implementing a breastfeeding social marketing campaign, targeting Māori and Pacific families, 
and the Feeding our Futures healthy eating social marketing campaign (run by the Health 
Sponsorship Council on behalf of the Ministry) 

•	 progressing the development of an information system to capture national breastfeeding data 
from Plunket and other Well Child providers 

•	 funding DHBs to develop and implement district breastfeeding plans and district community 
action plans with a focus on high-need populations 

•	 scoping the possibility of accessing point-of-sale data for vegetables and fruit. 

Reduce the harm caused by tobacco 

Some excellent results have been achieved by the sector during 2007/08. The smoke-free homes 
target was reached with over 75 percent of homes that have both children and smokers now 
smoke-free. In addition, the annual student smoking survey shows that over 35,300 or 57 percent 
of Year 10 students are now ‘never smokers’ – an increase of 3.4 percent on last year’s results. The 
result surpasses the target of 56 percent and the increase equates to an extra 2100 young people 
who have not started smoking. 

The Ministry worked with all DHBs to give them a clear explanation of the rationale and evidence 
for a greater focus on tobacco control, and smoking cessation in particular. DHBs worked with 
the Ministry to identify how to strengthen the delivery of smoking cessation across the sector, 
especially in primary health care.  

All DHBs submitted tobacco control plans in their 2007/08 district annual plans, with some still 
being finalised. These plans outline the DHB-level activities that will contribute to achieving the 
national-level tobacco targets.  
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It is clear that DHBs differ in their level of engagement and capacity to deliver on reducing the harm 
caused by tobacco. DHBs with good PHO relationships and systems are best placed.  Other DHBs 
have good systems but need to make the transition from tobacco control as solely a ‘public health’ 
activity to one that is also an essential part of high-quality health care. The Ministry is working 
directly with DHBs to support this transition, as well as working on national systems changes, 
including a smoking cessation indicator in the PHO performance management framework, and 
patient management system changes to simplify the recording of smoking status and action taken. 

Reduce the percentage of the health budget spent on the Ministry of Health 

In 2007/08, 1.95 percent of the health budget was spent on the Ministry of Health – a 0.09 percent 
increase on the previous year and within the fluctuations predicted when the three-year target 
was set. 

The Ministry had originally anticipated that the Medsafe business unit would become part of a new 
Joint Tasman Therapeutics Agency that was deferred. That would have reduced the spend by $10 
million to 1.86 percent of the health budget – the same as 2006/07. 

The budget allocation for Ministry spending in 2007/08 was $215 million. Total departmental 
expenditure was $210 million with the balance returned to the Crown for reinvestment in health 
services. 

New initiatives for the health sector in 2008/09 will increase overall Ministry expenditure although 
the total as a percentage of the total health budget is expected to reduce to 1.82 percent. The 
Ministry is progressing through a change programme with anticipated efficiencies in 2009/10. 

The Ministry forecasts to achieve the target of reducing total spend to 1.65 percent of the total 
Health Budget by the end of 2009/10. 

C: Enabling a strong, sustainable health sector for the 
longer term 

Workforce 
The New Zealand health system’s greatest resource is its workforce, making up approximately 
5 percent of the total labour market and 68 percent of public health expenditure. However, 
maintaining a sufficient supply of health and disability workers is an ongoing challenge for the 
health system. 

The Ministry’s role in workforce development is to ensure that the policy and regulatory environments 
support the Government’s strategic objectives, and to provide leadership and support to the sector 
on workforce development. The key elements of the Ministry’s contribution towards achieving this 
in 2007/08 were:  leading change in health workforce development, health workforce regulation, 
co-ordinating workforce activities, and workforce development in specific areas. 

Achievements for the 2007/08 period included: 

•	 development of the New Zealand Health Careers Framework, a joint initiative between the 
Ministry and DHBs, to support individuals and organisations to develop career pathways and 
inform and improve health and disability workforce planning 

•	 a review of the operation of the Health Practitioners Competence Assurance Act 2003 to ensure 
its potential can be maximised − the Ministry has completed the information collation stage and 
is now developing proposals for change, which will continue into the 2008/09 financial year 
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•	 the establishment of the Medical Training Board to advise the Ministers of Health and Tertiary 
Education on the systemic improvements needed to ensure we produce practitioners who are fit 
for purpose and for practice, and meet the needs of the health sector into the future 

•	 completing the Let’s Get Real core competencies framework and National Training Plan for the 
mental health and addictions workforce −  Let’s Get Real will be launched at the Mental Health 
Services Conference in September 2008 

•	 enhancing the Ministry’s Pacific Health Leadership Development programme and strengthening 
the participants’ Pacific leadership networks through an active alumni group 

•	 the Māori Provider Development Scheme (MPDS) providing funding for 142 Māori health 
and disability providers across all DHBs, and funding towards a series of national providers 
and programmes focused on the development of infrastructure, service improvement, Māori 
health workforce and technology;  an evaluation of the MPDS was also conducted, with release 
scheduled for 2008/09 

•	 a series of recommendations from a 2007/08 evaluation of the Hauora Māori Scholarship 
programmes were incorporated into the 2008 scholarship programme, which included 
improved promotion and the development of an online application form (The Ministry received 
755 applications across nine health or health-related qualifications, which was an increase 
of 114 applications from the previous year. The evaluation of the Hauora Māori Scholarship 
programmes acknowledges their substantial contribution to the development and expansion of 
the Māori Health workforce)    

•	 the launching of Te Uru Kahikatea – the Public Health Workforce Development Plan 2007−2016 
and the achievement of key milestones under that plan, including: 

–	 establishing a Māori national body to guide the Public Health Workforce Development
 
steering group on Māori public health workforce development priorities
 

–	 completing a set of generic public health competencies for the public health workforce 

–	 establishing a new Health Promotion Diploma course starting in 2009, to be run by the 

Manukau Institute of Technology.
 

Information systems 

The key outcome for information systems has been progressing the National Systems Development 
Programme (NSDP). Key achievements within the NSDP to date, while slower than expected due to 
difficulties in the start-up phase of the programme, are: 

•	 completion of the capitation payments and information programme, which has improved 
the reliability and accuracy of quarterly reporting and high-level requirements for the future 
payments and reporting system for the PHO enrolment data 

•	 stabilisation of key Ministry and national systems, such as Lotus Notes and the National 
Health Index (NHI) system, which has significantly reduced interruptions to users and achieved 
performance improvements 

•	 progress in establishing a Connected Health environment to enable participants in the health 
and disability sector to share information more effectively. (Connectivity standards have been 
defined and the initial core services have been identified, with research to identify the current 
and future ICT requirements of the health system being completed. This research will be used to 
target specific improvements and identify high-value Connected Health pilots and services) 

•	 requirements for the design of more effective ways of accessing Ministry-held data, and 
exchanging data with the Ministry, have been completed − the development of both a secure 
user portal and a data exchange gateway are under way 
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•	 completion of a detailed analysis of the national agreements and service provider claims 
processing, which will provide the basis for replacing the current unreliable systems 

•	 establishment of the organisational capability to deliver the programme, which has included a 
significant restructuring of the Information Directorate to better reflect the Ministry’s role. 

Key achievements in other information systems areas in the Ministry over the past year are as 
follows. 

•	 Payment services continued to effectively administer agreements. Almost 90 million payments 
were made within key performance indicators, with increased stakeholder satisfaction despite 
significant ongoing systems issues (currently being addressed by NSDP). 

•	 Improvements in clinical coding have been achieved. These improvements are intended 
to support an improved analysis of outcomes. Updates to key coding standards have been 
implemented, and work commenced on the introduction of Systematised Nomenclature of 
Medicine Clinical Terms (SNOMED CT) to provide greater granularity of information on diagnosis 
and medical outcomes. 

•	 Work on whole-of-government initiatives has progressed with the planned introduction of the 
Government Shared Network (GSN) for the core Ministry network, and the extension of the 
memorandum of understanding between the Ministry of Health and the Office of the Privacy 
Commissioner. 

D: A focus on Māori health and inequalities 
Improving Māori health 
An overarching aim of the health and disability sector is to improve Māori health outcomes and 
reduce Māori health inequalities. Leadership in the sector is essential to ensuring this aim is met. 

He Korowai Oranga (2002) and Whakatātaka Tuarua: Māori Health Action Plan 2006–2011 (2006) 
provide a framework for the Ministry, DHBs and key stakeholders to take a leadership role in 
improving Māori health outcomes. Achievements in 2007/08 included the following. 

•	 Te Matawhānui, a training programme for Māori DHB board members, combined with Te Manu 
Whakahīato governance training for Māori PHO board members and DHB iwi relationship 
boards, were held. The training programme is building a generation of Māori governors with 
expertise and confidence in DHB governance. 

•	 The Ministry held a series of consultation hui around New Zealand to establish Te Paepae Matua 
mō te Rongoā, the national rongoā body. The new national body will aim to grow, maintain and 
protect the integrity of rongoā.3 

•	 Te Apa Mareikura Award was launched as part of the Hauora Māori Scholarship programme. The 
new award has been included to acknowledge the health contributions of four kaumātua who 
have supported the Ministry by providing kaumātua services. 

•	 The Ministry and the Health Research Council of New Zealand released a review of the Hauora 
Māori Scholarship Programme. The scholarship programme was found to make a significant 
contribution to strengthening the Māori health and disability workforce, which contributes to 
improved health outcomes for Māori and for all other people in New Zealand. The Māori Provider 
Development Scheme was evaluated, and the evaluation release is scheduled for 2008/09. 

3  Rongoā Māori is informed by a body of knowledge that has as its core the enhancement of Māori wellbeing. In this way, rongoā 
Māori differs from a ‘western medical’ paradigm whose focus is principally the absence of health and wellbeing and treatments and 
interventions to return to a state of health. 
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•	 Advice was provided to the Minister on progress to implement the way forward for the use of 
Treaty of Waitangi statements in the health and disability sector. 

•	 The Ministry continued to negotiate with the Wai692 – Napier Hospital and Health Services 
claimants to resolve issues related to the health needs of Māori in the Napier area. 

•	 The Whānau Ora Tool was published. This is a practical guide to developing health programmes 
in which whānau, hapū, iwi and Māori communities play a leading role in achieving whānau ora. 
The tool is aimed at enhancing the effectiveness of health and disability services to positively 
contribute towards improving Māori health outcomes. 

•	 Te Puāwaiwhero (the Second Māori Mental Health and Addiction National Strategic Framework 
2008−2015) was launched under the guidance of an advisory group of DHB Māori mental 
health leaders, and received strong support during sector feedback. This strategy provides 
direction and leadership to the sector in meeting the requirements of the New Zealand Public 
Health and Disability Act 2000 and achieving equity in Māori mental health population need. 
It also provides a tool for Māori communities working in health. Te Puāwaiwhero builds on the 
momentum gained in both mental health and Māori health development.  It also draws on the 
10 Leading Challenges of Te Tāhuhu, prioritises actions from Te Kōkiri (matched with the most 
recent evidence from Te Rau Hinengaro − The New Zealand Mental Health Survey), and confirms 
the overall aim of He Korowai Oranga, firmly placing whānau ora as the key principal for recovery 
and wellbeing at the population level. 

•	 Te Rau Puāwai is a joint venture between the Ministry and Massey University aimed at 
increasing the capability of the Māori mental health workforce.  Since 1999 Te Rau Puāwai has 
supported over 600 students to embark on or continue with tertiary studies; 168 students have 
so far graduated with qualifications in health-related social science programmes. Te Rau Puāwai 
recently launched the first postgraduate profile of 28 of those graduates that have gained a 
master’s degree or a doctor of philosophy. 

Reducing inequalities 
The Ministry’s vision of ‘healthy New Zealanders’ refers to more New Zealanders having better 
health and better participation and independence than they currently do. The Ministry is aiming 
to reduce inequalities for those groups who currently have worse health status than other New 
Zealanders, particularly Māori, Pacific peoples, and those who are most deprived.  

Following are some of the key achievements in relation to reducing inequalities for 2007/08. 

•	 The Ministry funded services and initiatives to reduce health inequalities in four high-needs 
DHBs (Northland, Lakes, Tairawhiti and Whanganui). This included the implementation of 
intensive tobacco control programmes in all four regions. 

•	 Internal training was held earlier this year to raise awareness of reducing inequalities with the 
Ministry. A series of whānau ora Health Impact Assessment (HIA) tool training courses were 
also held with attendees from the Ministry of Health, other government agencies and the wider 
health sector.  

•	 A guide on the use of the Health Equity Assessment Tool (HEAT) was launched. 

• 	 Rauringa Raupa: Recruitment and Retention of Mā ori in the Health and Disability Workforce 
was released.4 He Pa Harakeke: Mā ori Health Workforce Profile 2007, which presents the most 
recent statistical information on Māori in the regulated workforce, was also released. 

4 Summary documents released were: He Rito Harakeke: Retention of Māori in the Health and Disability Workforce and He Tipu 
Harakeke: Recruitment of Māori in the Health and Disability Workforce. 
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•	 Six policy papers that assist in building a Pacific health knowledge and information base were 
prepared as part of the review of the Pacific Health and Disability Action Plan (2002). A joint 
Pacific Health Action Plan, developed with the Ministry of Pacific Island Affairs, focuses on the 
three health priority areas identified by the review: child health, chronic disease and cancer risk 
factors, and management of chronic diseases. 

•	 A second Pacific health provider fono was held. The fono was well attended by more than 300 
people from the Pacific health sector and key stakeholders. 

•	 Portfolios of research, evaluation and statistical information, including the web resource, 
which is an easy-to-use and accessible source of Māori health statistical information (see 
www.Maorihealth.govt.nz) and the Māori health review (see www.Maorihealthreview.co.nz), 
an online monthly publication for disseminating Māori research findings, continued to be 
available. The Ministry released a prisoner health factsheet looking at the health status of Māori 
male prisoners on the Māori health website. 
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Our Organisation
 
The Ministry continues to evolve and change to deliver on the key findings of the 2006 Review 
of the Current State of the Ministry of Health. The Ministry reorganised its structure and way of 
working with the health and disability sector. A new structure took effect on 1 July 2007, with 
eight directorates, each led by a Deputy Director-General (DDG), and a Risk and Assurance unit.  
An Executive Leadership Team, comprising the eight DDGs, is responsible for providing corporate 
governance and strategic direction and leadership to the Ministry.  

Ministry people: staff numbers as at 30 June 2008 
The total number of staff (both ongoing and fixed-term) in the core Ministry was 784.8 full-time 
equivalents as at 30 June 2008. A further 645.9 full-time equivalents (45 percent of total Ministry 
staff) are employed in the Ministry’s business units, providing services for the sector. 

The annual turnover for ongoing staff (excluding redundancies and fixed-term staff) up to 
30 June 2008 was 20.1 percent. The ratio of female (63.9%) to male (36%) staff in the Ministry has 
remained consistent over the last five years. 

Figure 2: Distribution of staff, by ethnic origin 
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At 30 June 2008, Māori made up 9 percent of the Ministry workforce (up from 7.7 percent in 2007). 
By contrast, Māori made up almost 17 percent of the total public service at 30 June 2007.5 

Capability and capacity 
The Ministry’s capacity and capability initiatives have been consolidated and mapped to the State 
Services Commission’s development goals 1 and 2. Commentary is provided below on progress 
against these initiatives during 2007/08. 

5  Human Resource Capability Survey of Public Service Departments as at 30 June 2007 (workforce profile), State Services 
Commission, November 2007. 
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SSC development goal � 
Employer of choice:  ensure the state services is an employer of choice 
attractive to high achievers with a commitment to service 

Effective attraction and commitment 
•	 Current recruitment practices were reviewed for better attraction. 

•	 Actions were implemented based on the staff commitment (retention) stocktake undertaken 
during 2006/07. 

•	 The Ministry remuneration policy was reviewed. 

Relevant and timely information 
•	 Requirements for updating the Ministry Human Resources Management Information System 

were identified and scoped to improve payroll and reporting functions. 

•	 A staff survey was implemented in the form of a Values Lab. 

Healthy workplaces 
•	 Information was made available on the Ministry’s staff portal about smoking cessation, 

specifically the Fresh Start programme. 

•	 A module on valuing differences as a way of working has been introduced into the Ministry’s 
orientation programme. 

•	 Awareness has been raised with managers about flexible working arrangements and the 
legislative requirements for dealing with requests from staff. 

SSC development goal 2 
Excellent state servants: developing a strong culture of constant learning in 
the pursuit of excellence 

Developing leadership capability 
•	 The Ministry commenced a review of our management competencies to align these competency 

requirements with the roles defined in the new Ministry structure. 

Effective and relevant training 
•	 The Ministry implemented a leadership and management support framework, which involved: 

–	 designing and implementing two leadership forums 

–	 developing and implementing the pilot programme for Stepping into Management 

–	 commencing the review of the Managing in the Ministry programme 

–	 designing and implementing career development workshops. 

•	 The Ministry implemented monthly balanced scorecard reporting on participation in the 
performance management process. 
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Carbon neutrality in the public service 
The Prime Minister’s Statement to Parliament speech on 13 February 2007 announced that the 
Ministry is one of six public service departments to take the lead on achieving carbon neutrality. 
The Ministry published its 2006/07 Emissions Inventory Report and 2007/08 Emissions Reduction 
Plan in April 2008. The Emissions Inventory Report showed that energy consumption is responsible 
for 39.4 percent of the Ministry’s carbon footprint. Travel contributes 58.99 percent and waste to 
landfill 1.6 percent. 

The Ministry continued to proactively monitor energy consumption and introduce energy-saving 
initiatives. For example, sensor lighting was introduced at a key Wellington site, and re-lamping 
with energy-efficient fittings took place at four sites. In September 2007 the Ministry implemented 
a comprehensive waste management system, separating and recording items for compost, recycle 
and landfill. 

The Ministry’s response to travel as the largest contributor to its carbon footprint has been to scope 
enhanced video conferencing facilities across the Ministry, which will include video conferencing 
links to key stakeholders. This will be implemented in October 2008. 

Risk management 
Risk management practices are embedded into the Ministry’s systems and operations. The 
Ministry’s risk management approach is based on the Australia − New Zealand Risk Management 
Standard (AS/NZS 4360 (2004)).  

Ownership and management of risks are primarily the responsibility of the directorate the risk 
corresponds to.  Each directorate has a risk administrator, who facilitates the co-ordination and 
administration process of risk reporting within their directorate. Risk owners are assigned to 
each risk and are responsible for providing current information on the risk and its management, 
for inclusion in the risk register. This year risks have been reported monthly to the Executive 
Leadership Team as part of the monthly reporting process.  

The Risk Management Programme contains a wide range of risks, reflecting the complex and 
changing environment the Ministry operates within. Each risk has mitigation strategies in place.  
Mitigation strategies are varied depending on each individual risk, and can include both existing 
practices (controls) and future actions (treatments).  
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Our Performance 

Statement of Responsibility 
In terms of section 45C of the Public Finance Act 1989, I am responsible, as Director-General of 
Health, for the preparation of the Ministry’s financial statements, statement of service performance 
and the judgements made in the process of producing those statements. 

I have the responsibility for establishing and maintaining, and I have established and maintained, 
a system of internal control procedures that provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of financial reporting. 

In my opinion, these financial statements and the statement of service performance fairly reflect 
the financial position and operations of the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2008. 

Stephen McKernan 
Director-General of Health 
26 September 2008 

Andrew Gavriel 
Chief Financial Officer 
26 September 2008 
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Audit report to the readers of the Ministry of Health’s 
financial statements and statement of service performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 
The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Ministry of Health (the Ministry). The Auditor-General has 
appointed me, A P Burns, using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the audit 
on his behalf. The audit covers the financial statements, and statement of service performance and 
schedules of non-departmental activities included in the annual report of the Ministry for the year 
ended 30 June 2008. 

unqualified opinion 
In our opinion: 

•	 The financial statements of the Ministry on pages 61 to 95: 

–	 comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

–	 fairly reflect: 

–	 the Ministry’s financial position as at 30 June 2008; and 

–	 the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

•	 The statement of service performance of the Ministry on pages 28 to 60: 

–	 complies with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; and 

–	 fairly reflects for each class of outputs: 

–	 its standards of delivery performance achieved, as compared with the forecast standards 
outlined in the statement of forecast service performance adopted at the start of the 
financial year; and 

–	 its actual revenue earned and output expenses incurred, as compared with the forecast 
revenues and output expenses outlined in the statement of forecast service performance 
adopted at the start of the financial year. 

•	 The schedules of non-departmental activities on pages 96 to 110 fairly reflect the assets, 
liabilities, revenues, expenses, contingencies, commitments and trust monies managed by the 
Ministry on behalf of the Crown for the year ended 30 June 2008. 

The audit was completed on 26 September 2008, and is the date at which our opinion is 
expressed. 

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the responsibilities of the 
Director-General of Health and the Auditor, and explain our independence. 

Basis of opinion 
We carried out the audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s Auditing Standards, which 
incorporate the New Zealand Auditing Standards. 

We planned and performed the audit to obtain all the information and explanations we considered 
necessary in order to obtain reasonable assurance that the financial statements and statement of 
service performance did not have material misstatements, whether caused by fraud or error. 
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Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and disclosures that would affect 
a reader’s overall understanding of the financial statements and statement of service performance. 
If we had found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have referred to them in 
our opinion. 

The audit involved performing procedures to test the information presented in the financial 
statements and statement of service performance. We assessed the results of those procedures in 
forming our opinion. 

Audit procedures generally include: 

•	 determining whether significant financial and management controls are working and can be 
relied on to produce complete and accurate data; 

•	 verifying samples of transactions and account balances; 

•	 performing analyses to identify anomalies in the reported data; 

•	 reviewing significant estimates and judgements made by the Director-General of Health; 

•	 confirming year-end balances; 

•	 determining whether accounting policies are appropriate and consistently applied; and 

•	 determining whether all financial statement and statement of service performance disclosures 
are adequate. 

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete accuracy of the financial 
statements and statement of service performance. 

We evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements 
and statement of service performance. We obtained all the information and explanations we 
required to support our opinion above. 

Responsibilities of the Director-General of Health and 
the Auditor 
The Director-General of Health is responsible for preparing the financial statements and statement 
of service performance in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand. 
The financial statements must fairly reflect the financial position of the Ministry as at 30 June 2008 
and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year ended on that date. The statement 
of service performance must fairly reflect, for each class of outputs, the Ministry’s standards of 
delivery performance achieved and revenue earned and expenses incurred, as compared with the 
forecast standards, revenue and expenses adopted at the start of the financial year. In addition, 
the schedules of non-departmental activities must fairly reflect the assets, liabilities, revenues, 
expenses, contingencies, commitments and trust monies managed by the Ministry on behalf of the 
Crown for the year ended 30 June 2008. The Director-General of Health’s responsibilities arise from 
sections 45A, 45B and 45(1)(f) of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the financial statements and 
statement of service performance and reporting that opinion to you. This responsibility arises from 
section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and section 45D(2) of the Public Finance Act 1989. 
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Independence 
When carrying out the audit we followed the independence requirements of the Auditor-General, 
which incorporate the independence requirements of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
New Zealand. 

In addition to the audit, we have carried out an assignment during the reporting period in the area 
of a panel provider for assurance over tender processes. This assignment is compatible with those 
independence requirements. Other than the audit and this assignment, we have no relationship 
with or interests in the Ministry. 

A P Burns 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand 

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the audited financial 
statements 
This audit report relates to the financial statements of the Ministry of Health (the Ministry) 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 included on the Ministry’s website. The Director-General 
of Health is responsible for the  maintenance and integrity of the Ministry’s website. We 
have not been engaged to report on the integrity of the Ministry’s website. We accept no 
responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since they 
were initially presented on the website. 

The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It does not provide an 
opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements. If readers of this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from 
electronic data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the audited 
financial statements and related audit report dated 26 September 2008 to confirm the 
information included in the audited financial statements presented on this website. 

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
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Statement of Service Performance for 2007/08 

Statement of objectives 
The generic quantity, quality and timelines performance measures for all policy advice and 
briefings supplied by the Ministry of Health follow. 

Quantity 
Policy advice and briefings will be supplied on the basis agreed between the Minister of Health 
and the Director-General of Health. Unanticipated briefing requests will be supplied to the minister 
as requested. 

Quality 
Policy advice will comply with the Ministry of Health’s standards for policy advice.  Briefings and 
advice will: 

• be clear, concise and logical 

• be factually accurate, practical and complete 

• have a clear statement of purpose 

• be presented in the correct format 

• consider options and implications 

• consider legal, financial and health service implications 

• meet Cabinet Office requirements where relevant 

• comment on intersectoral implications 

• be peer reviewed 

• follow quality processes for briefings, recorded through the use of audit trails. 

The quality assurance procedures followed for ad-hoc ministerial advice will depend on the type of 
advice and the timeframe in which it is requested. All advice will be signed out in accordance with 
delegated authority. 

There will be feedback from Cabinet office on compliance with standards for Cabinet papers. 

There will be feedback from the Minister on specific advice tendered. 

There will be regular meetings between the Minister and senior staff, and quarterly reports to the 
Minister on the Ministry’s progress against project outputs. 

Timeliness 
Timeframes for policy projects will be met as agreed between the Minister of Health and the 
Ministry, unless modified with the Minister’s agreement. Short-term and ad hoc ministerial 
requests will be supplied within the required timeframes. The Ministry manager who is responsible 
for preparing the request monitors timeliness. 

Cost 
The out-turn for the year is within budget, in accordance with the Financial Statement of Objectives. 
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Output and performance measure Status and Summary of Progress or Variance Explanation

   
 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Departmental output expense: administration of funding 
and purchasing of health and disability support services on 
behalf of the Crown 
This output expense provides interventions planned by the Ministry to deliver on a core operating 
function for the Ministry: funding and purchasing of health and disability support services on 
behalf of the Crown. The planned interventions allow funding and purchasing of some health 
and disability support services, the roll-out of the national foundation certificate for home-based 
support service workers, and post-clinical education and training. 

The services funded and purchased will include some disability support services, public health 
services, specified screening services, mental health services, national personal health services 
and Māori health services. 

In relation to these services, this departmental output expense provides for the Ministry to: 

• 	 plan for and undertake developments to improve the benefit of services funded by the Ministry 
of Health, including cross-agency co-operation and collaboration where appropriate 

• 	 fund services, including negotiating service agreements, provider audit and monitoring against 
contracts and national quality standards 

• 	 pay claims from people with a disability 

• 	 ensure the effective utilisation of services funding and analyse expenditure and service trends 
to inform budget monitoring. 

Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Disability Support Services 
The Ministry will plan and fund disability Achieved. Appropriate management continued for these 
support services specific to people with contracts. Monitoring reports were responded to in 
sensory, physical or intellectual disabilities accordance with Ministry standards. 
(generally under 65 years old). This includes 
funding services such as community 
residential services, home support, respite, 
carer support and environmental support 
services. Performance against an estimated 
1200 service agreements will be monitored, 
including (if applicable) the promotion of 
service quality in the health and disability 
workforce. 

The Ministry will ensure consumer and Achieved. Two consumer consortiums were held in 
provider participation in developing and 2007/08. Members of the consortium have represented or 
improving disability support services, nominated consumers from their respective organisations 
including nationwide consumer forums, to participate in advisory groups and selection panels. 
representation of consumers on advisory Provider organisations and representatives worked 
groups and selection panels, and provider collaboratively with the Ministry on major projects and 
networks, including Māori provider networks. developments throughout the year. 
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Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

The Ministry will implement ongoing 
development and enhancement programmes 
to improve disability support services, 
including: 

• Environmental Support Services – 
accessibility and eligibility issues 

• Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) services 
including the release and impact 
assessment of the ASD Guidelines 

• workforce development for targeted 
groups such as home-based support 
service workers and needs assessment 
and service co-ordination (NASC) 

• transparent and fair funding models 

• implementing a disability information 
system for NASCs. 

Achieved. A number of new and extended equipment 
and modification services were introduced during the 
year. Easy-to-read information about equipment, housing 
modifications and vehicle modifications was developed 
into accessible formats (Māori, three Pacific languages, 
Braille, audiotape, large print) and circulated widely. 
Training to support new service developments has been 
undertaken and a number of equipment pools have been 
established to enable disabled people to trial different 
types of equipment as part of the assessment process. 

Achieved. The Autism Spectrum Disorder Guideline 
was launched on 2 April 2008. The New Zealand 
Guidelines Group is contracted to provide the technical 
implementation of the Guideline, including service 
improvements, developing resources and establishing the 
living Guideline process. 

Achieved. Development of the infrastructure and 
leadership of the workforce for home and community 
support services and services for people with intellectual 
disability have been achieved. The development of under 
graduate and graduate qualifications for the needs 
assessment and service co-ordination workforce has been 
completed and will commence in 2009. 

Achieved. Work on the development of an agreed funding 
model by the Ministry and providers progressed well. A 
small evaluation was undertaken, but the Ministry and 
provider representatives agreed that this first evaluation 
had not been robust enough, and that a second evaluation 
of the proposed model was required with a wider and more 
robust scope. The second evaluation is now under way and 
work on writing an implementation plan has commenced. 

Achieved. The national NASC information system was 
implemented as scheduled between 26 October 2007 
and 10 December 2007. The system, known as Socrates, 
is currently being used by all Ministry-funded NASCs. The 
Ministry is resolving any of post-implementation issues. 
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Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Public Health 
Performance against an estimated 450 
service agreements relating to public health 
will be monitored including collaborative 
planning and purchasing of Public Health 
Programmes from DHBs, NGOs and Crown 
entities to: 

• strengthen the national alignment group 
model 

Achieved. There were 553 service agreements in the 
Ministry’s contract management system at 30 June 2008. 

Achieved. Alignment groups are operating in five regions, 
involving 14 DHBs. 

• adapt public health services to the diversity 
of needs in the DHBs 

Achieved. Alignment groups are ensuring that planning 
and purchasing of public health services are adapted and 
aligned to the diversity of needs in DHBs. 

• change the contracting approach to one of 
partnership – and for DHB public health 
funding, including public health unit 
activity, to be part of the Crown Funding 
Agreement. 

Not achieved. Alignment groups are providing 
opportunities for taking a partnership approach to 
contracting. Discussions have been held with DHBs 
and Public Health Unit representatives. The Ministry is 
evaluating using the CFA as a mechanism for funding 
Public Health Units. The Public Health Services Handbook 
is being reviewed and updated to provide a better basis for 
collaborative planning and funding. 

national screening programme 
Performance against an estimated Achieved. There were 101 contracts signed and 
100 service agreements for the delivery monitored throughout 2007/08 and all relevant reporting 
of national screening programmes will be was received. 
monitored. 

Mental health 
The Ministry will plan, fund, purchase, 
monitor and evaluate 102 contracts of mental 
health and addiction services in workforce 
development, research and development, 
provision of sector intelligence, problem 
gambling, alcohol and other drug services 
and primary mental health initiatives as part 
of implementing Te Kōkiri. 

Achieved. There are 138 contracts in place. 

non-devolved health and disability services 
The Ministry will fund and purchase a 
range of non-devolved personal health and 
clinical training services and contract the 
components of the child and adolescent oral 
health workstream, including the Clinical 
Training Agency. 

Achieved. 
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Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

The Ministry will also administer: 

• the High Cost Treatment Pool (HCTP) Achieved. The full year expenditure budget was exceeded 
by $128,000, due to the impact of eligible patient cases. 

• the contract with the Central Northern Achieved. A current contract is in place and services are 

Adelaide Health Service, Australia, being provided as specified in the contract. 

providing the administration and 
management of the Australia and New 
Zealand Dialysis and Transplant Registry 
(ANZDATA), the Australia and New Zealand 
Organ Donor Registry (ANZOD) and the 
Living Kidney Donor Registry (LKDR). 

The Ministry will implement the agreed Achieved. Funding was allocated to individuals with 
hepatitis C no-fault proposal. hepatitis C. 

All service agreements will be managed in 
accordance with the Ministry’s contracting 
standards. 

A quarterly report will be provided to the 
Minister on the Ministry’s performance as a 
funder in relation to the service agreements 
as specified. 

Achieved.  

Achieved. 

Administration of the Māori Provider 
Development Scheme (MPDS) 
Decisions on the allocation of funds will be Achieved. MPDS funding for 2007/08 was jointly assessed 

in line with guidelines. The relevant DHB and with DHB representatives, and successfully allocated to 

Mā ori provider organisations will be involved 142 Mā ori health and disability providers across the 

in decisions where appropriate. Funds will 21 DHBs. 

be allocated to successful applicants across 
four categories. Requests for applications, 
assessments, advice and payment of funds 
will meet the timeframes stated for the 
2006/07 funding round. 
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Cost
 
Main Supp. 

Actual estimates estimates 
30/06/08 30/06/08 30/06/08 

$000 $000 $000 

Crown Revenue 28,414 31,993 28,414 

Third Party Revenue 531 – 480 

Total Revenue 28,945 3�,993 28,894 

Total Expenditure 28,874 31,993 28,894 

net surplus 7� – – 

Due to the restructuring of all Departmental appropriations effective 1 July 1007 no comparative figures for the previous year are 
available. 
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Departmental output expense: administration of legislation 
and regulations 
This output expense provides interventions planned by the Ministry to deliver on a core operating 
function for the Ministry: administration of legislation and regulations and meeting legislative 
requirements. 

These interventions are to administer and enforce statutory obligations, and meet health-specific 
legislative requirements, which include: 

•	 promoting improvement in public health and safety through statutory obligations set out in 
the Health Act 1956 (and to be strengthened by the development of the Public Health Bill), the 
Radiation Protection Act 1965, the Medicines Act 1981, and other public health statutes that 
provide for communicable disease control and environmental health (including border control) 

•	 leading the whole-of-government response in preparing for, and responding to, health 
emergencies requiring a government (national) response, as described in the Civil Defence and 
Emergency Management Act 2002 

•	 discharging the obligations and meeting the health-specific requirements of statutes 

•	 implementation of Te Kōkiri through the administration of legislative and statutory obligations 
and the protection of human rights for those affected by mental illness 

•	 promoting continuous improvement in the provision of safe and quality-focused health and 
disability services through statutory obligations set out in the Health and Disability Services 
(Safety) Act 2001 

•	 promoting improvement in health and disability outcomes for people with intellectual disability 
through statutory obligations set out in the Intellectual Disability (Compulsory Care and 
Rehabilitation) Act 2003 

•	 maintenance and review of the regulatory framework for quality and safety. 

Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Radiation protection services and emergency 
management 

The Ministry will: 

• provide an emergency response service 
24 hours, 7 days a week with regards to 
the harmful effects of ionising and 
non-ionising radiations 

• provide training for those who respond 
to incidents involving ionising radiations, 
at a frequency and level determined by 
consultation with emergency response 
services 

• publish the Annual Report on 
Environmental Radioactivity Monitoring 
in 2007. 

Achieved. Five incidents, including one simulated exercise, 
were responded to. 

Achieved. Seven training courses were held for first 
responders. 

Achieved. The report was published in May. 
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Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

The delivery of the Ministry’s emergency 
management responsibilities (derived 
from the Civil Defence and Emergency 
Management Act 2002) will be measured 
through monitoring the delivery of the 
Ministry’s Emergency Management Work 
Programme. This will include monitoring the 
progress on projects planned for completion 
in 2007/08, emerging issues and emergency 
management workstreams continuing into 
outyears. 

Achieved. The Emergency Management Team continues to 
support the emergency management responsibilities of the 
Ministry to ensure that it meets its legislative obligations.  
The ongoing work programme continues to be progressed 
with many projects spanning several years. 

Environmental health, including border 
control and drinking-water 

• Drinking-water quality management 
capacity building programmes started in 
six Pacific Islands. 

• International ship sanitation regime 
implemented. 

• A health support service framework 
developed for dioxin-exposed populations. 

• Two hundred small water supplies are 
involved in the technical assistance 
programme. 

Achieved. The water aid programme was well received. 

Achieved. New Zealand issued the first Ship Sanitation 
Certificate globally. 

Achieved. The service was implemented in Taranaki on 
1 July 2008. The service will be extended to the rest of 
New Zealand by 1 October 2008. 

Achieved. The programme provides technical and capital 
assistance to supplies serving less than 5000 people. To 
date the Ministry has provided technical assistance to 
more than 200 supplies and has allocated $13.328 million 
to upgrade 45 supplies. 

• Revised lead, spraydrift, asbestos 
guidelines will be provided to DHB public 
health units. 

• Implementation of Government’s decision 
on the sanitary works subsidy scheme. 

• Health protection practitioner competency 
framework promulgated to DHBs. 

• Training designated officers to dispense 
their statutory obligations. 

Achieved. Revised guidelines and health education 
materials have been well received. 

Achieved. An additional $40 million was announced in the 
2008 Budget. 

Achieved. Reports on the ongoing competency proposals 
and criteria for appointing statutory officers were provided 
to DHB Public Health Units. 

Achieved. Training was provided in border health 
protection, emergency management, enforcement, health 
impact assessment, professional development, hazardous 
substances, and drinking-water legislation. 
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Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Regulation of medicines and medical devices 
and establishment of the AnZTPA and a new 
joint regulatory scheme with Australia 

Approximately 1525 new and changed 
medicines will be evaluated for their safety, 
effectiveness and quality. 

Approximately 43 audits will be undertaken 
for licences to manufacture medicines 
and licences to pack as required under the 
Medicines Act 1981, wholesalers, retailers, 
pharmacies, companies possessing and 
dealing in controlled drugs. 

The Ministry will: 

• investigate complaints about medicine 
quality and breaches of the legislation 

• monitor adverse reactions to medicines 
and provide updated prescribing advice 

• evaluate and approve/reject clinical trial 
applications 

• monitor aberrant prescribing 

• enforce border control activities 

• develop a new regulatory scheme to be 
administered by ANZTPA 

• provide regulatory advice for the 
complementary medicines and medical 
devices sector to enable them to 
understand the new requirements and 
facilitate their transition into the new 
scheme. 

Achieved. For 1444 changed medicine notifications 
a first response was received within the 45 days, as 
required under the Medicines Act 1981. Eighty-four 
initial evaluations were completed for New Medicine 
Applications (received after 21 August 2006). This is a 
demand-driven workload. 

Achieved. 46 audits were undertaken for licences to 
manufacture medicines and licences to pack under the 
Medicines Act 1981. 

Achieved. There were: 289 medicine complaints, 
37 advertising complaints, 909 medical device complaints 
and 43 investigations of breaches under the Medicines Act 
1981. 

Achieved. Four meetings of the Medicines Adverse 
Reactions Committee were held. 

Achieved. There were 115 clinical study applications 
received and responded to within 45 days, as required by 
the Medicines Act 1981. 

Achieved. Letters were sent to doctors on 36 occasions 
seeking clarification of prescribing for specific patients. 

Achieved. Following examination and detention of parcels 
at the International Mail Centre 6714 letters of notification 
or requesting additional information were issued. 

Postponed. The programme was postponed in July 2007.  
Proposals are being considered for options and activities 
that should occur to allow Medsafe to implement changes 
to its work programme while a final decision on ANZTPA is 
awaited. 

Postponed. See explanation above. 
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Output and performance measure Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Administration of mental health legislation 
Produce the Office of the Director of Mental 
Health’s annual report and produce statistics 
on the use of Electroconvulsive Therapy 
annually by 30 June 2008.6 

Achieved. The report was completed on 18 October 2007. 

Administering public health legislation 

• Report produced on the public health role Achieved. Approval is now being sought from Cabinet to 
of local government by 30 June 2008. release the report as a discussion document. 

• Train statutory officers for legislative Achieved. Training was provided in border health 
functions relating to public health. protection, emergency management, enforcement, health 

impact assessment, professional development, hazardous 
substances and drinking-water legislation. 

• Public Health Bill select committee report Achieved. The Health Committee reported back to 
back (contingent on LEG agreement by Parliament on 26 June 2008. The Bill is awaiting its second 
15 November and introduction by 30 reading. 
November 2007).7 

HealthCert 
The Ministry will review work carried out Achieved. All audit reports submitted by Designated Audit 
by designated audit agencies to ensure Authorities were reviewed by HealthCert, in accordance with 
compliance with the standards that are established criteria, and any concerns were followed up. 
approved under the Health and Disability 
Services (Safety) Act 2001. 

• Certificates will be issued within 15 working Achieved. HealthCert received 468 applications. Of these 
days of receiving all the information that is 371 were issued within the required timeframe, the 
required. remainder were processed when the required information 

was made available. 

• Complaints will be responded to within Achieved. Excluding anonymous complaints, 

seven working days of receipt. 135 complaints were received and acknowledged, where 
applicable, within seven working days. 

• Reports will be completed within 15 Achieved. There were 63 investigations undertaken; 8 were 
working days of an investigation audit not completed within the required timeframe due to staff 
being completed and obtaining all relevant availability. 
information. 

6 In the 2007–2011 Statement of Intent this date was mistakenly shown as 30 June 2007.
 

7 Timeframes for the Bill have been revised, in consultation with the Minister, from ‘(contingent on LEG and introduction in April 2007)’.  
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Cost
 
Main Supp. 

Actual estimates estimates 
30/06/08 30/06/08 30/06/08 

$000 $000 $000 

Crown Revenue 19,347 5,439 19,348 

Third Party Revenue 15,644 10,245 14,085 

Total Revenue 34,99� �5,684 33,433 

Total Expenditure 31,988 15,684 33,433 

net surplus 3,003 – – 

Due to the restructuring of all Departmental appropriations effective 1 July 1007 no comparative figures for the previous year are 
available. 
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Departmental output expense: funding and performance 
of Crown entities 
This output expense provides interventions planned by the Ministry to deliver on a core operating 
function for the Ministry:  achieving the Ministry’s outcomes at the system and societal level by 
providing advice on the ownership and performance of Crown entities. 

DHB and Crown entity ownership advice 
This covers: 

•	 developing funding advice to DHBs, incorporating interdistrict flows, and National Pricing and 
the population-based funding formula (PBFF) 

•	 developing funding advice to other Crown health entities 

•	 developing the planning and reporting requirements for DHBs and other Crown entities, 
managing the DHBs’ Crown Funding Agreements, and reviewing the performance reports on 
each DHB and other Crown entities 

•	 advice on the performance of DHBs and other Crown health entities in delivering the 
Government’s New Zealand Health Strategy and New Zealand Disability Strategy 

•	 advice on ministerial appointments to the governing bodies of the DHBs and other Crown entity 
boards and on the expectations of board members 

• 	 advice on industrial relations across the sector 

• 	 advice on best practice and policy for DHB elections, and assisting DHBs to meet their 
legislative obligations for DHB elections 

• 	 support and training for Māori participation in DHB decision-making 

• 	 leading the negotiations working towards the resolution of contemporary Treaty of Waitangi 
claims 

• 	 co-ordination of sector capital investment plans through the National Capital Committee and 
the assessment and management of sector capital business cases 

• 	 advice on governance issues affecting DHBs and other Crown entities, including conflicts of 
interest, succession planning, codes of conduct, delegation policies and approvals for co
operative and collaborative arrangements. 

DHB and Crown entity performance management 
This covers: 

• 	 utilisation of the Monitoring Intervention Framework (MIF) for evaluating, recognising and 
encouraging improved DHB performance 

• 	 assisting DHB boards with the resolution of governance issues affecting board performance and 
the promotion of best governance approaches 

• 	 reviewing the ongoing financial and non-financial performance of DHBs and Crown entities and 
the consideration of any appropriate interventions to achieve performance improvement 

• 	 alignment of DHB accountability and monitoring arrangements with the work of the performance 
management and assessment steering group. 
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Performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Quantity 
The Ministry, via the National Pricing Achieved. The pricing programme was completed and then 
Programme (NPP), will provide analytical incorporated into the funding advice to DHBs. 
resources and project management support 
so that a National Price Book is produced, 
including a revised tertiary adjuster, in time 
for the 2007 funding programme.  The NPP 
allows for a common process to develop 
national prices and hospital benchmarking 
information in a co-ordinated manner, 
reducing transaction costs in the sector 
and improving productivity through the 
development of best practice tools. 

The Ministry will maintain the Nationwide Achieved. The Ministry maintains the Nationwide Service 
Service Framework so that the sector can Framework library website in consultation with DHBs.  
take a consistent approach to methodologies During 2007/08: a major upgrade of the library site was 
and processes when analysing, funding and completed; a review was commenced of the nationwide 
monitoring services. service specifications and the purchase unit data 

dictionary; and an annual review of the DHB Planning and 
Policy documents was completed on time. 

The Ministry will provide input in Pay and Achieved. The Ministry of Health provided input into 
Employment Equity (P&EE) initiatives to the Department of Labour developed P&EE Responsible 
ensure that sector views are considered. Contracting Policy and facilitated the Department’s 

engagement with DHBs. The Ministry provided input into 
the Department’s review of P&EE accountability measures. 

The Ministry will provide support, advice Achieved. The Ministry participated in the group drafting of 

and information to DHBs to assist them to the DHBs’ National P&EE review and response plan.  The 

implement their Pay and Employment Equity Ministry also participated in the Department of Labour run 

(P&EE) action plans. Sector Leader Chief Executives’ Forum and tripartite P&EE 
Steering Group. 

Advice will be provided to the Minister Achieved. A sector-wide Health Report on all 21 DHBs, 
regarding the 21 DHB District Annual Plans. including advice on their DAPs, was sent to the Minister’s 

office on 27 June 2008. Also incorporated with the Health 
Report were individual reports on the 17 DHBs who’s 
District Annual Plans were ready for approval. 

The Ministry will conduct focused publicity Achieved. The campaign was conducted successfully, 
campaigns aimed at encouraging candidates with an adequate number of candidates standing for each 
to stand for DHB elections and for the public board.  Voter turn-out was lower than hoped for, but this 
to vote that allows for representation that was a general trend with all local government elections. 
better reflects the composition of DHBs’ 
populations. 
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Performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

The Ministry will provide advice to the Achieved. 
Minister on the 2007 DHB elections, 
including a breakdown of successful 
candidates, and recommendations for future 
election. 

The Ministry will conduct a centralised Achieved. Induction of DHB board members was 
induction of board members. undertaken during December. 

Advice with recommendations on any Achieved. 
changes to the PBFF will be provided to the 
Minister of Health. 

Advice with recommendations on 2008/09 Achieved.  

service agreements will be prepared for the 
Minister of Health. 

An evaluation of options to investigate Achieved. An interim step was incorporated into the 
a different method of collecting monthly planning package. A modified approach was agreed to and 
financial information will be completed. templates were developed during the 2nd quarter of the 

financial year. 

Quality 
Advice will be provided in accordance with 
the Statement of Objectives. 

A survey of sector representatives shows 
satisfaction with the process and outcome 
of the review of DHB accountability 
arrangements. 

Achieved. All briefings and advice were supplied to the 
Minister on time and in accordance with the quality 
requirements stipulated in the Statement of Intent. In 
addition, unanticipated briefings were also prepared and 
provided as requested. 

Achieved. DHBs and Ministry stakeholders were surveyed 
formally and informally on various components of the 
review of the DHB accountability arrangements. The results 
were obtained through planned ‘Strategic Conversations’ 
with individual DHBs, relevant workshops and a survey on 
the 2008/09 District Annual Plans.  

Timeliness 
Formal Monitoring Intervention Framework 
response occurs within 8 weeks of confirmed 
material deterioration in performance 
to ensure reasons for deterioration are 
identified and corrective action taken. 

Achieved.  
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Cost
 
Main Supp. 

Actual estimates estimates 
30/06/08 30/06/08 30/06/08 

$000 $000 $000 

Crown Revenue 13,680 7,982 13,680 

Third Party Revenue 165 – 152 

Total Revenue �3,845  7,982 �3,832 

Total Expenditure 12,532 7,982 13,832 

net surplus �,3�3   – – 

Due to the restructuring of all Departmental appropriations effective 1 July 2007 no comparative figures for the previous year are 
available. 
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Departmental output expense: information services
 
This output expense provides interventions planned by the Ministry to deliver on a core operating 
function for the Ministry:  Information Services. 

These interventions provide for the collection and analysis of health information, including: 

•	 custodianship of the Health Information Strategy for New Zealand (HIS-NZ) 

•	 custodianship and operational responsibility for national collections of health and disability 
information on behalf of New Zealanders 

•	 custodianship and operational responsibility for national health event summaries on behalf of 
all New Zealanders 

•	 the collection, processing, maintenance, analysis and dissemination of health data, Public 
Health Intelligence (PHI), statistics and information including strategies to improve data quality 
and methods to improve data analysis 

•	 responsibility for providing health information to the sector and appropriate information to 
wider stakeholders 

•	 the maintenance and ongoing development of key national systems 

•	 the maintenance and ongoing development of national indexes (ie, the National Health Index 
and Health Practitioner Index) to ensure connectivity to data stored across national collections. 

Performance measure Estimate Status and summary of progress or 
variance explanation 

Quality 
Development, maintenance and continuous 
improvement of key national collections 
systems. 

Quarterly Achieved. The ongoing programme of work 
to address identified data quality issues 
continued throughout 2007/08. 
In addition, data quality feedback reports 
were provided each month to DHBs for 
review. A draft data quality strategy was 
delivered in February 2008. A draft set of 
high level principles has been agreed to. 

Data loads for mental health information 
national collection (MHINC), breast 
cancer screening and treatment (BCST), 
national minimum data set (NMDS) and 
national booking review system (NBRS) are 
processed.  

Within two days 
of receipt 

Achieved. Targets were fully met. 

Availability of National Health Index (NHI) 
reporting to the sector. 

Monthly Achieved. All reporting was provided 
within agreed timeframes. 
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Performance measure Estimate Status and summary of progress or variance 
explanation 

Quantity 
Progressively populate Health Practitioner 
Index (HPI) with practitioner level data from 
contracted registration authorities. 

Utilising data collected and stored within 
national collection system to deliver a 
minimum of six statistical health information 
published publications. 

100% pa 

Six 
publications 

Achieved. Significant progress has been 
made during 2007/08. Currently the New 
Zealand Health Information Service (NZHIS) 
regularly receives and loads new data 
loads from three registration authorities 
(Medical Council, Pharmacy Council and 
Physiotherapy Board) and NZHIS has 
received initial registration uploads from a 
further five registration authorities. 

Not completed. Five publications (online and 
hard copy) were published. Three hard copy 
publications are at pre-print stage. 

The National Health Index (NHI) and Medical 
Warning System (MWS) availability (of time). 

Register cancers reported to NZHIS in 
accordance with the New Zealand Cancer 
Registry Act 1993 and Cancer Registry 
Regulations 1994. 

Code underlying cause of deaths for deaths 
and stillbirths registered in New Zealand, 
that are reported to NZHIS. 

98% 

100% 

28,500 pa 

Achieved. Targets were fully met. 

Achieved. All cancers reported to NZHIS 
were registered in accordance with the 
New Zealand Cancer Registry Act 1993 and 
Cancer Registry Regulations 1994. Coding of 
2006 data is complete and of 2007 data is 
almost complete. 

Achieved. Deaths and stillbirths reported to 
NZHIS were coded with the underlying cause 
of death.  28,500 records were coded in the 
year ended 30 June 2008. This consisted of 
records from 2006 and 2007. 

Timeliness 
Requests for information from the clinical 
coding help desk are delivered as agreed 
with clients. 

95% Achieved. All requests received were 
responded to within agreed timeframes. 

Health Practitioner  Index (HPI) technical help 24 hrs Achieved. Targets were fully met in 2007/08. 

desk availability. 7 days 

Achieved. Targets agreed with customers 

Requests for information from client 
stakeholders are delivered as agreed with 
clients. 

95 percent have been fully met in 2007/08. 
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Performance measure Estimate Status and summary of progress or variance 
explanation 

national Systems Development Programme 

Quality, Quantity and Timeliness 
Project outputs will meet quality standards, 
timelines and costs as set out in the project 
plans as agreed between the Minister and 
Ministry. 

As set out in 
plans 

Not achieved. There was a variation 
of 2 percent in the completion of the 
National Collections Annual Maintenance 
Programme. 

Cost
 
Main Supp. 

Actual estimates estimates 
30/06/08 30/06/08 30/06/08 

$000 $000 $000 

Crown Revenue 66,421 43,097 66,421 

Third Party Revenue 900 126 676 

Total Revenue 67,32� 43,223 67,097 

Total Expenditure 66,783 43,223 67,097 

net surplus 538 – – 

Due to the restructuring of all Departmental appropriations effective 1 July 2007 no comparative figures for the previous year are 
available. 
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Departmental output expense: payment services 
This output expense provides for the administration and monitoring of service agreements and 
payments for health benefits and service agreements.  

These services include: 

•	 payment and administration of agreements 

•	 payments to health providers for contracted services 

•	 payment for clinical data collection from health provider claims 

•	 provision of information and reports relating to payment and other health data 

•	 audit and counter-fraud methodologies to ensure that health funds are applied legitimately and 
appropriately 

•	 patient eligibility administration. 

Health sector payments and administration 
Performance measure and estimate Estimate Status and summary of progress or variance 

explanation 

Quantity 
Claims (including capitation) and invoices 
processed and paid. 

90,000,000 Achieved. All 89,765,317 claim or invoice 
items and capitation records received during 
2007/08 were processed. 

Agreements produced and processed. 11,000 Achieved. All 10,095 agreements submitted 
by the sector during 2007/08 were 
produced and processed within the agreed 
timeframes. 

Monitoring reports loaded into the contract 
management system. 

14,000 Achieved. There were 14,044 monitoring 
reports loaded into the contract 
management systems for 2007/08. 

Applications for eligibility processed. 280,000 Achieved. There were 286,903 applications 
for eligibility processed for 2007/08. 

Timeliness 

Percentage of applications for eligibility 
processed within agreed timeframes. 

100% Achieved.  

Percentage of correct claims and invoices will 
be paid within agreed timeframes. 

100% Not achieved. Ninety-eight percent of correct 
claims were paid within agreed timeframes. 
It was agreed with the sector, during the 
financial year, that 95% would be a more 
realistic target. 

Percentage of client calls answered 
successfully (measured as an abandonment 
rate of no greater than 5%) by the call centre. 

95% Achieved. Ninety-eight percent of calls were 
answered successfully during 2007/08. 
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Performance measure and estimate Estimate Status and summary of progress or variance 
explanation 

Percentage of approved agreements issued 
to providers within 5 working days of 
approval. 

99% Achieved.  Ninety-nine percent of approved 
agreements were issued to providers within 
5 days of approval during 2007/08. 

Performance measure and estimate Status and summary of progress or variance 
explanation 

Quality 
An audit programme will be conducted as specified 
in the Ministry of Health – District Health Boards’ 
Memoranda of Understanding and monitored by the 
Information Liaison Group. 

A Memorandum of Understanding with the DHBs will 
be undertaken. 

Agreements will be peer-reviewed prior to issuing to 
providers. 

Payments of claims and invoices will be according to 
business rules within agreements. 

Cost
 

Achieved. Savings of $11.2 million were made 
during 2007/08 as a result of completing 420 
audits and 103 investigations. 

Achieved.  

Achieved.  

Achieved. 

Main Supp. 
Actual estimates estimates 

30/06/08 30/06/08 30/06/08 
$000 $000 $000 

Crown Revenue 18,346 21,340 18,346 

Third Party Revenue 184 _ 118 

Total Revenue �8,530  2�,340 �8,464 

Total Expenditure 17,733 21,340 18,464 

net surplus 797 – – 

Due to the restructuring of all Departmental appropriations effective 1 July 2007 no comparative figures for the previous year are 
available. 

Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2008 47 



 

 

  

 

 
 

  

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 
 

 

 

   
 

 

 
    

 

Departmental output expense: servicing of Ministers and 
ministerial committees 
This output expense provides interventions planned by the Ministry to deliver on a core operating 
function for the Ministry:  to provide servicing of the Minister of Health, Associate Ministers of 
Health and Parliament. This includes: 

•	 advice to Ministers not related to interventions planned for the other departmental output 
expenses but which is either requested by Ministers or is of such significance that a Minister 
would be at risk if s/he was not briefed on the matter at hand 

•	 the preparation of draft responses to ministerial correspondence, parliamentary questions, 
requests for briefing reports and speeches; the provision of replies to questions asked by the 
Health Committee in respect of the Estimates and Financial Review examinations; appointments 
to ministerial and occupational statutory bodies and committees; responses to petitions; select 
committee inquiries; and acting as advisor to select committees in their consideration of bills 

•	 the provision of administrative and advisory services to ministerial advisory committees 
serviced by the Ministry. 

Output, performance measure and estimate Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Policy advice 

Quantity 
As agreed between the Minister and Ministry. Achieved. Ongoing advice on a wide range of issues has 

been provided to the Minister. 

Quality 
All advice and briefings will meet the quality Achieved. Advice was produced according to the Ministry’s 

standards set out in the Statement of standards. 

Objectives. 

Timeliness 
Advice and briefings completed within the Achieved. Timeframes were renegotiated for any advice 
requested timeframe. not expected to be completed on time.  

Ministerial correspondence 

Quantity 
Provision of an estimated 4500 draft replies. 

Quality 
All draft replies peer reviewed and signed out 
in accordance with delegated authority. 

Ninety-three percent of replies signed off at 
first draft. 

Timeliness 
Ninety percent of draft replies completed 
within 10 or 20 working days, as requested. 

Not achieved. This was demand driven, the quantity was 
9 percent lower than forecast, with 4104 draft replies 
being provided.  

Achieved.  

Achieved. Ninety-four percent of replies were signed off at 
first draft. 

Not achieved. Eighty-seven percent were completed in this 
timeframe. Although this was below the standard, this was 
an improvement on last year’s figure of 80%. 
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Output, performance measure and estimate Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Parliamentary questions 

Quantity 
Provision of an estimated 3000 draft replies Not achieved. This was demand driven; the Ministry 

to Parliamentary questions. provided 2297 draft replies to Parliamentary questions, 
which was 23% lower than forecast. 

Quality 
All draft replies peer reviewed and signed out Achieved.  

in accordance with delegated authority. 

Timeliness 
One hundred percent of draft replies to Not achieved. Eighty-eight percent of all claims were 

questions completed within the required processed within agreed timeframes. 

timeframe. 

Briefing papers and preparation of speeches 

Quantity 
Provision of an estimated 500 briefing Achieved. This was demand driven, the Ministry provided 
requests and speech requests from the 819 briefings and speeches. 
Minister of Health. 

Quality 
All advice and briefings will meet the quality Achieved.  
standards for the provision of policy advice 
and briefings set out in the Statement of 
Objectives. 

All draft replies peer reviewed and signed out Achieved.  
in accordance with delegated authority. 

Timeliness 
One hundred percent completed within Not achieved. The drop to 75% being completed within 
time frame. the timeframe reflected the increased number of briefings 

requested and the relatively shorter deadlines for 
completion compared to the previous year.  

Official Information Act requests 

Quantity 
Provision of an estimated 850 responses to 
requests for official information. 

Quality 
All decisions made in accordance with the 
provisions of the Official Information Act 1982. 

Not achieved. While the total of 696 total responses for 
the year was 18% below the estimated number, many 
of the responses were of an increased complexity. Some 
requests were for detailed figures, requested via the 
Act, rather than requests being asked as Parliamentary 
questions, as in other years. Also, requests were often 
more wide-ranging than in previous years (eg, requesting 
multiple documents in one request). 

Achieved.  

All draft replies peer reviewed and signed out 
in accordance with delegated authority. 

Achieved.  

Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2008 49 



 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

  

 
 

 

Output, performance measure and estimate Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Timeliness 
One hundred percent of requests for official 
information completed within the required 
timeframe. 

Not achieved. Sixty-six percent of requests were on time. 
This reflects the complexity of some of the requests. The 
Ministry has improved its processes and work is now 
flowing more smoothly. 

Select committee requests 

Quantity 
Provision of 350 responses to written Achieved. All questions asked by the select committee were 
questions from the Health Committee relating answered and the committee reported its 2006/07 Financial 
to the Financial Review and Estimates Review of the Ministry of Health in December 2007 and its 
Examination. 2008/09 Estimates for Vote Health in July 2008. 

Provision of advice and written reports to Achieved.  
select committees. 

Quality 
All draft replies to written questions peer 
reviewed and signed out in accordance with 

Achieved.  

delegated authority. 

All draft replies to written questions peer 
reviewed and signed out in accordance with Achieved.  

delegated authority. 

Timeliness 
One hundred percent of written responses 
provided within the timeframe requested Achieved.  
by the Minister of Health and the Health 
Committee. 

Within the timeframe requested by the select Achieved. 
committee. 

Appointments to Ministerial committees 

Quantity 
An estimated 200 appointments. 

Quality 
All appointments to Ministerial Committee 
and Statutory Bodies and Committees made 
in accordance with the New Zealand Public 
Health and Disability Act 2000, DPMC and 
SSC requirements. 

Achieved. The Ministry managed all 188 appointments 
that were required. 

Achieved. The 2008 election required the Ministry to 
manage a higher-than-usual number of appointments 
in the first half of 2008. As from August any further 
appointments will be deferred until after the election. 

Timeliness 
Ninety percent of appointments to statutory 
bodies and committees made prior to expiry 
of the term of appointment, except where the 
incumbent ceases to hold office prior to the 
expiry of their term. 

Not Achieved. Fifty percent of appointments were 
completed on time or deferred until after the general 
election; of the remainder, 29% were resolved during 
2007/08. The Ministry worked with the Minister’s office to 
ensure the Minister received the information he required 
to make appointment decisions. 
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Output, performance measure and estimate Status and Summary of Progress or Variance Explanation 

Statutory and ministerial advisory support 

Quantity and quality 
The Ministry will provide secretariat support 
to the following committees in accordance 
with Ministry Standards and committee 
expectations in accordance with the 
committees annual work plans.  

Cancer Control Council of New Zealand 

Quality Improvement Committee 

Child and Youth Mortality Review Committee 

Perinatal and Maternal Mortality Review 
Committee 

National Ethics Advisory Committee 

New Prescribers Advisory Committee 

Advisory Committee on Assisted 
Reproductive Technology 

Ethics Committee on Assisted Reproductive 
Technology 

National Health Committee. 

Public Health Advisory Committee 

Health and Disability Ethics Committees 

Achieved. The Cancer Control Council has delivered its 
work-plan and is due to provide the Minister with an 
annual report by the end of August. The Council moved into 
separate premises during the month of June to support its 
independent role. 

Not achieved. The funding and start-up of the four national 
quality improvement programmes, led by CEOs of DHBs, 
was achieved. The QIC annual report, which was due in 
June, will be delivered to the Minister before the end of 
August 2008. 

Achieved. New funding for the committees was distributed 
to DHBs. The committee’s Annual Report and 2008/09 
work plan are with the Minister.  

Achieved. The committee’s first report to the Minister was 
published in October 2007. The Annual Report has been 
published and the 2008/09 work plan is with the Minister. 

Achieved. Seventy-nine meetings were held and 1120 
applications were reviewed.  

Not applicable. The committee has been de-commissioned. 

Achieved. The committee’s work was supported by the 
Ministry to deliver its commitments to the Minister. 

Achieved. Six meetings were held and 41 applications were 
reviewed. New application forms were developed for some 
surrogacy and gamete donation situations. 

Achieved. The committee’s work was resourced and 
supported to deliver on its commitments to the Minister. 

Achieved. The committee’s work was resourced and 
supported to deliver on its commitments to the Minister. 

Achieved. Seventy-nine meetings were held and 1120 
applications were reviewed.  
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Output, performance measure and estimate Status and Summary of Progress or Variance Explanation 

Health Information Strategic Action 
Committee 

National Screening Advisory Committee 

National Kaitiaki Group. 

Timeliness 
All milestones and timeframes as agreed 
between the statutory and ministerial 
committees and the Minister in annual plans 
will be met. 

Cost
 

Achieved. The HISAC office is continuing to implement the 
committees 2007/08 business plan set by the committee 
in February. The office is conducting a comprehensive 
assessment of all ongoing projects and their status with 
the goal of updating the business plan. 

Achieved. High-quality secretariat support was provided, 
with meetings held quarterly in 2007/08. Follow-up 
advice was provided to the Director-General and the wider 
Ministry. 

Achieved.  

Achieved.  

Main Supp. 
Actual estimates estimates 

30/06/08 30/06/08 30/06/08 
$000 $000 $000 

Crown Revenue 21,041 12,886 21,041 

Third Party Revenue 807 – 638 

Total Revenue 2�,848  �2,886 2�,679 

Total Expenditure 21,629 12,886 21,679 

net surplus 2�9   – – 

Due to the restructuring of all Departmental appropriations effective 1 July 2007 no comparative figures for the previous year are 
available. 
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Departmental output expense: strategy, policy and system 
performance 
This output expense provides interventions planned by the Ministry to achieve progress on the 
current priorities of chronic disease, child and youth services, elective services, primary health 
care, health of older people, infrastructure, and value for money. 

Reducing inequalities is a focus in each of these priorities to meet the Government’s expectations 
that the Ministry leads the ‘Better Health for All’ sub-theme of the ‘Families – young and old’ theme 
in its transformative social policy. 

This output expense also provides interventions to develop the long-term sector strategic plan and 
monitoring of the performance of the health system. 

Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Reducing inequalities 
Four workshops, with a particular focus on the 
Four regional cancer networks, will be 
conducted by 30 June 2008 to raise awareness 
of the need to reduce inequalities. 

Achieved. Four regional cancer networks have been 
established in the Northern, Midland, Central and 
Southern DHBs. The Ministry of Health continues to work 
closely with each of those DHBs to progress the work on 
reducing inequalities in the Four districts. 

The Health Equity Assessment Tool (HEAT) 
will be reviewed by 30 June 2008 and a guide 
to its use will be developed to improve its 
uptake. 

Achieved. The review of the HEAT has been completed. 
A guide to its use will be developed in 2008/09. 

The Pacific Health and Disability Action Plan 
will be reviewed by 29 February 2008 and 
implementation of the action plan for the 
next period will commence to improve Pacific 
health and to reduce inequalities. 

Achieved. Six policy papers that identify health and 
disability issues for Pacific peoples were published in 
February 2008. The Ministries of Health and Pacific Island 
Affairs Joint Action Plan focusing on priority areas was 
approved by the joint Ministers in May 2008. 

Chronic disease 
The Healthy Eating–Healthy Action (HEHA) Achieved. The Health Sponsorship Council is contracted to 
social marketing campaign will be in place deliver key messages until 2009. 
by 31 August 2007 to facilitate progress on 
promoting the key messages from the HEHA 
strategy. 

The HEHA strategy evaluation will be in place Achieved. The first phase of evaluating the 
by 31 December 2007 to determine the implementation was completed by 24 December 2007. 
effectiveness of HEHA implementation and the 
future direction for the HEHA Strategy. 

The first phase of the project to assess Achieved. This report was completed by 31 July 2007 and 
national capacity and capability required to received good feedback from the sector.  Subsequently a 
meet future demand for cancer services, and second draft report has been completed using updated 
address geographic and ethnic inequalities in data. This work is already feeding into the future planning 
access (including for Māori), will be completed work of some DHBs. 
by 30 September 2007 (Whakatātaka Tuarua). 
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Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Four regional cancer control networks will be 
established with reporting frameworks by 
31 October 2007. 

Achieved. Four regional cancer networks (Northern, 
Midland, Central and Southern) have been established 
30 September 2007 and are working to agreed annual plans. 

Intensive tobacco control programmes will Achieved. All four DHBs had programmes in place by 
be implemented in Four high-needs DHBs 19 December 2007. 
(Whanganui, Tairawhiti, Lakes and Northland) 
by 31 December 2007. 

DHB co-ordination pilots on suicide Achieved. Five DHB pilots were established in Auckland, 
prevention that include contributing to the Counties Manukau, Lakes, Wairarapa, and Nelson-
reduction of Mā ori suicidal behaviour will be Marlborough DHBs. 
established by 31 March 2008 (Whakatātaka 
Tuarua). 

Update of the framework for the provision Not achieved. The final draft was submitted to the 
of forensic mental health services will be Minister, but resolving issues during stakeholder 
completed by 30 April 2008.8 consultation took longer than was expected. 

A breastfeeding social marketing campaign Achieved. A suitable provider has been contracted to 
will be in place by 31 March 2008 to facilitate deliver the campaign until 2011. 
progress on the breastfeeding health target. 

All BreastScreen Aotearoa (BSA) lead Achieved. All 8 BSA lead providers have migrated onto the 
providers will migrate to one software system, Orion Soprano BreastScreening system. 
namely the Orion Soprano BreastScreening 
system, by 30 June 2008 in order to address 
performance issues with other existing 
information systems, and to meet the 
accreditation requirements of the BSA Data 
Management Manual version 4.0. 

The actions of the National Screening Unit 
Reducing Inequalities Action Plan completed 
by 30 June 2008: 

• review the funding and contracting Achieved.  
arrangements with independent service 
providers and other providers 

• develop measurable and meaningful Achieved.  
performance indicators to incentivise 
providers 

• strengthen the focus of screening in DHB Achieved. 

District Strategic Plans and District Annual 
Plans. 

8 The Minister agreed to reforecast the due date from 30/11/07 to 30/04/08. 
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Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

The first year of the three-year joint work 
programme (with DHBs) for Te Kō kiri: The 
Mental Health and Addiction Plan will be 
implemented by 30 June 2008 including: 

• completion of phase 1 of the update of the 
Mental Health Service Coverage Schedule 
including clarifying the existing document 
and establishing minimum access levels 

• the development of a new framework for the 
Mental Health service specifications and the 
application to at least 1 service area 

• the development of a monitoring framework 

• review of Te Puāwaitanga: Māori Mental 
Health National Strategic framework. 

The review and update of the Opioid 
Treatment Guidelines will be completed by 
30 June 2008. 

Achieved 

Not achieved. The final draft was submitted to the 
Minister in May 2008; however, stakeholder feedback 
has delayed completion. The Ministry has responded to 
key stakeholders and has made some changes to the 
framework. However, disagreement with the approach 
remains. The Ministry is preparing a final Health Report to 
the Minister. 

Achieved. A monitoring framework was completed in 
September and provided to the Minister as part of a 
Cabinet report back process. The framework has been 
implemented and includes: a joint Ministry/DHB work 
group; a sector advisory group; Ministry and DHB 
progress reporting; as well as an annual report to Cabinet. 

Achieved. The review and update were  completed as part 
of the second Māori mental health strategy 

Not achieved. The feedback timeframe for key stakeholder 
input was considered too short, so the consultation 
period was extended until 31 July.  A draft was provided to 
the Ministry in early August. 

Child and youth services 

The ‘Ready for School’ pilot will be in place by 
31 August 2007, with the ‘Ready for School’ 
check national implementation phased in from 
29 February 2008. 

The Well Child service review, which will 
promote whā nau ora and improve the delivery 
of Well Child services to tamariki Māori, will be 
completed by 29 February 2008 (Whakatā taka 
Tuarua). 

Achieved. The B4 School Check pilot began successfully 
on 20 August with the two pilot sites (Counties Manakau 
and Wanganui) receiving overwhelmingly supportive 
media coverage of the pilot. The first four DHBs began 
implementation in February and delivering B4 School 
Checks in June. The remaining 17 DHBs are in the 
establishment phase and are expected to begin delivering 
checks in September. 

Achieved. The review of the content of the Well Child 
Framework, when implemented, is expected to improve 
health and wellbeing outcomes for all children and 
families, including tamariki Māori. 

Guidelines for targeted chlamydia testing will 
be completed by 29 February 2008. 

Achieved. The guidelines were completed in the 
third quarter. 
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Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Public health education and media campaign 
on safe sex will be under way by 31 May 
2008 to follow up the ‘Hubba’ campaign of 
2004–05. 

Achieved for 2007/08 deliverables. The Project Plan for 
the media campaign sets out an information-gathering 
phase to be completed by 30 July 2008, a campaign 
planning phase to be completed by 30 August, and a 
campaign development to be completed by 30 December. 
Implementation is planned for January 2009 and ongoing. 

Implementation of a Family Violence death 
review process will be completed by 30 June 
2008. 

Achieved. The Minister agreed to the establishment of 
a Family Violence Death Review Committee in January.  
Funding for implementation and ongoing costs of the 
committee was approved by Cabinet in February. The 
committee was established by Associate Minister 
Chadwick in June. 

Develop strategic vision/quality framework for 
maternity services (advisory group).9 

Achieved. The final Maternity Vision Statement was agreed 
by consensus during the Maternity Services Strategy and 
Advisory Group meeting held on 3 July. 

The review and update of the child and youth 
mental health and addiction policy and 
service delivery framework will be completed 
by 30 June 2008. 

Achieved. Te Raukura – Mental Health and Alcohol and 
Other Drugs: Improving outcomes for Children and Youth 
was published in April 2008. Guidance to the sector on 
eating disorders was finalised, and regional plans are 
expected from DHBs by 31 July 2008. 

Project scopes were completed for Youth Forensic and 
Maternal and Infant mental health projects – literature 
reviews under way. 

The National Immunisation Schedule, 
including the pneumococcal vaccine, will be 
implemented by 30 June 2008. 

Achieved. Immunisation with Prevenar® vaccine 
commenced for children born from 1 January 2008, 
to protect them against pneumococcal disease.  
Immunisation with Infanrix®-Hexa commenced, 
protecting against six diseases in one vaccine. Routine 
MeNZB™ vaccinations to protect against meningococcal 
B disease ended. The 2008 National Immunisation 
Schedule Health Provider booklet is available on the 
Ministry website. Immunisation resources have been 
updated for parents/caregivers and the National 
Immunisation Register System has been updated. 

Elective services 
Formal Monitoring Intervention Framework Achieved. Actions were taken as specified and when 
response will occur within 8 weeks of required. 
confirmed material deterioration in 
performance. 

Contracts for new initiative money will be Achieved. Monthly monitoring reports were completed 
monitored throughout the financial year. throughout the financial year. 

9 The Minister agreed to change the wording of the measure from ‘The policy environment for maternity services in a devolved DHB 
context will be completed by 30 June 2008’. 
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Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Primary health care 
Stronger PHOs, as evidenced by: 

• production of a good governance guide by Achieved by 30 June 2008. 

30 September 2007 

• participation in governance workshops Achieved 2007/08 deliverables. The project is on track for 
and training by PHO board members so completion by 30 April 2009. 
that they better understand their roles and 
obligations – at least four courses/sessions 
during 2007/0810 

• description of the key capabilities required Achieved by 30 June 2008. 
of PHOs to assist DHBs and PHOs with their 
planning and capability development by 
30 June 2008. 

A chronic disease focus in primary health care, 
as evidenced by: 

• findings from the evaluation of the mental Achieved by 30 July 2008.  The next phase is external peer 
health initiatives completed by 30 June review and publication. 
2008 

• completion of review of best practice Achieved. The review by the NZ Guidelines Group was 
guidelines for the management of completed by 24 December 2007 and implementation 
depression in primary health care settings of the plan has since commenced.  The next phase is the 
by 30 December 2007 launch of the guidelines at the RNZCGP Conference. 

• a reviewed scope for the Care Plus Achieved. A Health Report was provided to the Minister 
Programme by December 2007. on 31 October, who agreed to transfer Care Plus into the 

Long-Term Conditions Management Fund. 

Better alignment of accountabilities and Achieved. The funding formula review was completed 
funding as evidenced by next stage of funding before 30 December and a Health Report on Realising the 
formula review completed by 30 December Full Potential of the Primary Health Care Strategy was then 
2007. submitted to the Minister’s office in January. 

Health of older people 
A Cabinet paper updating progress and 
advising on next steps on community-based 
aged care and funding of aged-care services in 
support of the Minister’s priority for the health 
of older people will be completed by 
10 December 2007. 

Report on gaps in services supporting 
continuum of care for older people will be 
completed by 30 May 2008. 

Achieved. A Cabinet paper was completed in June 2008. 

Achieved. The report was completed in June 2008. 

10 The Minister agreed to reforecast the due date from 30/06/08 to 30/04/09, but with interim deliverables being required. 
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Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

Infrastructure – national Systems 
Development Programme 
The National Systems Development 
Programme has been implemented as agreed 
between the Minister and Ministry. The 
programme consists of six workstreams, 
28 portfolios and within these portfolios are 
129 projects. By June 2008 this progressive 
programme will have completed some key 
stabilisation and standards projects that will 
provide foundation capability for enhancing 
sector-wide health information, connectivity 
and systems. The remainder of the deliverables 
will be achieved by June 2010. 

The programme will monitor all programme 
costs on a weekly basis against forecast 
and report monthly as per its governance 
framework. Timeliness performance will be 
measured by measuring percentage of on-time 
deliverables against the plan. 

Achieved. A Programme Management Office has been 
established to provide performance and reporting, 
risk and quality advice. Weekly, monthly and quarterly 
reporting is now part of business as usual, along 
with providing Health Reports to the Minister and the 
developing of further Business Cases. 

Achieved. The programme timeliness performance and 
programme costs were monitored on a real time basis and 
reported monthly. Seventeen deliverables were completed 
to June 2008 and 52 are scheduled for completion in the 
2008/09 year. Recipient and Provider Workstream and 
Access and Integration Workstream deliverables make 
up the bulk of deliverables in 2008/09 and outyears.  
Capitation funding and payments processing as a 
programme were completed in June 2008. 

Infrastructure – workforce 
New Zealand’s Health Career framework, in Achieved. The framework was published in October 2007. 
partnership with District Health Boards New It describes the structure of and progression within the 
Zealand, will be published and disseminated health and disability workforce. It supports individuals 
by 31 October 2007 to map health and and organisations to develop careers and career 
disability careers to support staff retention pathways and informs and improves health and disability 
and innovations in workforce planning and workforce planning. 
development. 

A Cabinet paper to implement the Workforce Achieved. In September Cabinet approved the main 

Taskforce (advisory to the Minister of Health) recommendation: the establishment of a Medical 

recommendations on streamlining medical Training Board. The Board was established in October 

education and training to produce medical with support from the Ministry and Tertiary Education 

practitioners who are fit for purpose and for Commission. The Medical Training Board expects to 

practice in the minimum time period, will be report in July to the Ministers of Health and Tertiary 

completed by 29 February 2008. Education regarding proposed recommendations to 
improve medical training. 

Under the Health Practitioners Competence 
Assurance Act 2003, the Ministry is required to 
commence a review of the operation of the Act. 
This review will be commenced by 
30 November 2007 with a view to completion 
by December 2008. 

Achieved. Cabinet approved the terms of reference for 
the review in September 2007 and the review began 
in October 2007. In the first phase up to April 2008 
the Ministry gathered information by way of a survey, 
an online questionnaire, an analysis of international 
and local experience, and discussion of findings with 
stakeholders. The second phase started in May 2008 and 
involved developing proposals for change and discussing 
these with stakeholders, and this phase is continuing 
into the 2008/9 financial year. The final phase will be 
the preparation of the Director-General’s report to the 
Minister of Health by the end of 2008. 
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Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

The development of a Mental Health and 
Addiction Core Competencies Framework will 
be completed by 30 June 2008. 

Achieved. The framework is completed and is to be 
officially launched at the Mental Health Services 
Conference in September 2008. 

The development of a National Training Plan 
for Mental Health and Addiction workers will 
be completed by 30 June 2008. 

A Public Health Workforce Development 
Implementation Plan will be completed 
by 30 June 2008. 

A national body to co-ordinate public health 
workforce development established by 
30 June 2008. 

Achieved. The plan has been developed by the Ministry 
as part of the Te Pou 2007/08 work programme. 

Achieved. The plan was completed in December 2007 
and implementation has started. Planning is under way 
to increase Mā ori leadership in the public health sector.  
The project outlines the scoping phase for the future 
delivery of a Māori Leadership in Public Health Training 
Programme. The Ministry is also working with tertiary 
education providers and wānanga to see if the providers 
want to develop new courses relevant to public health. 

Achieved. A national body was established in July 2007 to 
guide the public health workforce development steering 
group on Māori public health workforce development 
priorities. Four priorities have been identified and 
the national body will work with the steering group to 
implement these priorities. 

Value for money 
Dependent on the output of health sector Achieved. The Ministry of Health’s contribution to the 
survey about multiple audits in the health and Ministry of Economic Development’s Cabinet paper was 
disability sector (June 2007), a Cabinet paper delivered by 31 August. 
on implementing specific feasible solutions 
to improve efficiency in health provider audits 
will be completed by 31 August 2007. 

National Service and Technology Review Achieved. The committee completed its work on time, in 
Advisory Committee (NSTR) analyses, reviews, September 2007, to a high quality and to the satisfaction 
ranks and makes recommendations on of all concerned. 
business cases submitted to the committee by 
30 September 2007. 

The review of the mental health sector service Achieved. Signed by the Minister of Health during the 

standards will be completed by 31 March final quarter of 2007/08. 

2008.11 

A health impact assessment unit will be Achieved. A health impact assessment support unit was 

established within the Ministry of Health by established on 6 August 2007 and it is now working with 

31 May 2008. other central agencies and DHBs to develop capacity and 
capability for health impact assessment. 

11 The Minister agreed to reforecast the due date from 30/11/07 to 31/03/08. 
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Output and performance measures Status and summary of progress or variance explanation 

The development of DHB key mental health Achieved for 2007/08 deliverables. Phase two of the 
performance indicators will be developed by project has a wider scope and is included in the 2008/09 
30 June 2009.12 output plan. 

Two DHB reviews will be undertaken by 30 June Achieved. A review was completed on the Capital and 
2008. Coast DHB and two other reviews were undertaken in an 

open-ended manner on West Coast and Southland DHBs. 
The results will assist in identifying further review work. 

long-term sector plan development 
A long-term sector strategic plan will be 
completed by 4 December 2007. 

Achieved. The Long-term Sector Framework Overview 
report was sent to the Minister on 30 November 2007.  
The report described how the long-term sector plan will 
be developed. 

Implementation of government decisions on 
allocating funding responsibility for long-term 
support services for people with chronic health 
conditions will be completed by 30 June 2008. 

Not achieved. In August 2007 Cabinet noted the Minister 
of Health’s in-principle decision, subject to DHBs’ 
capacity and capability, to allocate responsibility for 
funding this group to DHBs (SDC Min [07] 13/4 and Cab 
Min [07] 30/7 refer). Ministry consultation with DHBs on 
this matter took longer than anticipated, and it is now 
working towards transferring funding responsibility to 
DHBs by 1 July 2009. 

System policy 
The Director-General’s annual report on the Achieved. This report was part of the Health and 
state of the public health will be completed by Independence Report 2007 which was published in 
30 September 2007. October 2007. 

The Minister’s report on the implementation Achieved. This report was part of the Health and 
on the New Zealand Health Strategy will be Independence Report 2007 which was published in 
completed by December 2007. October 2007. 

Cost
 

Actual 
30/06/08 

$000 

Main 
estimates 
30/06/08 

$000 

Supp. 
estimates 
30/06/08 

$000 

Crown Revenue 31,828 70,560 31,827 

Third Party Revenue 367 365 605 

Total Revenue 32,�95  70,925 32,432 

Total Expenditure 30,704 70,925 32,432 

net surplus �,49� – – 

Due to the restructuring of all Departmental appropriations effective 1 July 2007 no comparative figures for the previous year are 
available. 

12 The Minister agreed to reforecast the due date from 31/06/08 to 31/06/09. 
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Financial Statements 

Introduction to the financial reports 
The Ministry receives funding from Parliament for its own operations which is included in 
its departmental appropriations. The Ministry also receives and manages significant other 
appropriations to administer on behalf of the Crown to fund third party service providers including 
District Health Boards and Non-Governmental Organisations. The majority of this funding is for 
operational purposes with some being appropriated for capital expenditure. All the funding 
appropriated by Parliament and administered by the Ministry is known collectively as Vote Health. 

While the funding for Vote Health is appropriated on an annual basis, the Government also 
provides indicative funding in the out years to give the health and disability sector stability and 
the ability to forward plan the provision of health and disability services for the New Zealand 
population. The Government has also agreed that the Minister of Health, as Vote Minister, 
has flexibility to manage pressures and risks in Vote Health funding over time. As part of this 
arrangement, Vote Health is able to seek Cabinet approval on the re-appropriation of unspent 
funds from the previous year. A major component of the additional health funding received each 
year is to recognise the effects of inflation and of demographic changes to the New Zealand 
population. 

A similar arrangement exists for the capital funding received for Vote Health. A four-year capital 
envelope provides a longer time horizon to prioritise and fund capital projects, and is particularly 
suited to large-scale projects such as those recently completed or being undertaken at a number 
of District Health Boards. With such projects, the certainty of ongoing funding is of considerable 
benefit to the health and disability sector. 

Funding of the sector continues to undergo change with ongoing increases to funding for District 
Health Boards. Significant additional funding developed during 2007/08 included funding 
transferred to District Health Boards for aged residential care, home-based support for people aged 
over 65, DHB pharmaceuticals and the Cancer Control Action Plan. 

These changes assist in minimising the funding directly controlled by the Ministry in percentage 
terms, as shown in the following diagrams. 
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Figure 3:  2007/08 departmental operational appropriations – actual expenditure 

Servicing Ministers and
 
Ministerial Committees
 
$21,629 million
 
10%
 Strategy, Policy and 

Systems Performance 
$30,704 million 

15% 

Funding and 
Performance of 
Crown Entities 

$12,532 million 
6% 

Funding and 
Purchasing of 

health and 
disabilities 

services 
Information $28,874 million 
Services 14% 
$66,783 million 
32% 

Payment Administration of
 
Services legislation and regulations
 

$17,733 million $31,988 million
 
8% 15%
 

Note: Total actual expenditure $210.243 million.   

Figure 4:  Comparative data for 2006/07 departmental operational appropriations – 
actual expenditure 

Ministerial Support
 
Services
 
$3.007 million
 

Disability Services 
$10.119 million 
5.5% 

Sector Policy 
$12.626 million 

Clinical Services 
$13.416 million 

Services 

34.5% 

Public Health 
$42.821 million 
23.2% 

Information 

$63.718 million 

Quarantine and 
Biosecurity Policy Advice 
$1.588 million 
0.9% 

1.6% Māori Health 
$3.857 million 
2.1% 

Mental Health 
$7.889 million 
4.3% 

Management of 
National Screening 
Programmes 
$9.354 million 
5.1% 

6.8% 

7.3% 

DHB Funding and 
Performance 
$16.342 million 
8.8% 

Note: Total actual expenditure $184.737 million (prior to NZ IFRS adjustments).   
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Figure 5:  2007/08 non-departmental operational appropriations – actual expenditure 
DHB Funding 
$8,603.9 million 
79.4% 

Capital Expenditure 
$269.0 million 
2.5% 

Other Non-departmental 
Output Classes 
$280.9 million 
2.6% 

NDOE 
$22.1 million 
0.2% 

Health Services Funding 
$105.7 million 
1.0% 

Clinical Training Agency 
$105.5 million 
1.0% 

National Disability 
Public Health National Maternity Services Support Services 
Service Purchasing $124.6 million$834.1 million 
$356.9 million 1.2%7.7% 
3.3% 

National Elective Services
 
$128.3 million
 
1.2%
 

Note: Total actual expenditure $10.831 billion. 

Figure 6:  Comparative data for 2006/07 non-departmental operational appropriations – 
actual expenditure

7.6% $312.1 million $55.3 million
 
3.1% 0.6%
 

DHB Funding 
$7,974.3 million 
79.9% 

Capital Expenditure 
$305.2 million 
3.1% 

Other Non-departmental 
Output Classes 
$39.4 million 
0.4% 

NDOE 
$19.3 million 
0.2% 

Health Services Funding 

National Services 
$517.4 million 
5.2% 

Disability Support 
– National 
$755.0 million Public Health 

Service Purchasing 

 Note: Total actual expenditure $9.978 billion. 
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Statement of financial performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

Income 

168,417 Revenue Crown 199,077 193,297 199,077 

16,711 Revenue other 2 18,549 10,736 16,754 

66 Gains 3 49 – – 

�85,�94 Total operating revenue 2�7,675 204,033 2�5,83� 

Expenditure 

103,007 Personnel costs 4 124,716 103,011 103,006 

8,268 Depreciation and amortisation expense 8,654 11,309 10,902 

1,289 Capital charge                5 1,402 1,620 1,397 

– Finance costs 6 – – – 

72,432 Other operating expenses 7 75,471 88,093 100,526 

�84,996 Total expenditure 2�0,243 204,033 2�5,83� 

�98 net surplus 7,432 – – 

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 23. 

Statement of movements in taxpayers’ funds 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

�8,623 

7,432 

1,350 

8,782 

– 

(7,432) 

�9,973 

�7,046 

198 

436 

634 

1,400 

(457)

�8,623 

Balance at � July 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 

Property, plant and equipment revaluation 
gains/(losses) taken to equity 

Total recognised income and expenses 

Capital contributions 

Provision for 
  repayment of surplus to the Crown 12 

Balance at 30 June �5 

�8,447 

– 

– 

– 

8,464 

– 

26,9�� 

�8,623 

– 

– 

– 

15,328 

– 

33,95� 

The notes set out on pages 70 to 95 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Statement of financial position 
as at 30 June 2008 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

Taxpayers’ funds 

18,623	 General funds 15 18,623 26,911 33,951 

Property, plant and equipment 
– revaluation reserves	 15 1,350 – – 

�8,623 	 Total taxpayers’ funds �9,973 26,9�� 33,95� 

Represented by: 

Assets
 

Current assets
 

1,677 Cash and cash equivalents 9,537 22,218 16,982 
15,275 Debtors and other receivables 8 15,792 1,116 1,439 

540 Prepayments 1,202 454 540 

�7,492 	 Total current assets 26,53� 23,788 �8,96� 

non-current assets 

23,945 Property, plant and equipment 9 22,380 18,712 32,605 

10,558 Intangible assets 10 14,982 18,234 10,558 

34,503 Total non-current assets 37,362 36,946 43,�63 

5�,995 Total assets 63,893 60,734 62,�24 

liabilities
 

Current liabilities
 

22,434 	 Creditors and other payables 11 23,984 24,174 20,658 

Provision for 
457   repayment of surplus to the Crown 12 7,432 – – 

1,840 Provisions 13 3,156 1,419 – 

7,365 Employee entitlements 14 7,792 6,125 – 

32,096 	 Total current liabilities 42,364 3�,7�8 20,658 

non-current liabilities 

54 Provisions 13 57 – – 

1,222 Employee entitlements 14 1,499 2,105 7,515 

�,276 Total non-current liabilities	 �,556 2,�05 7,5�5 

33,372	 Total liabilities 43,920 33,823 28,�73 

�8,623	 net assets �9,973 26,9�� 33,95� 

The notes set out on pages 70 to 95 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Cash was provided from: 
Supply of outputs to 

172,333     Crown 198,726 193,044 212,913 
3,320     Department 2,799 3,320 3,037 

15,994     Others 16,914 7,416 13,717 
(1,361)     Net GST received/(paid) 244 – – 

�90,286 Total cash provided from operating activities 2�8,683 203,780 229,667 

Cash was disbursed to:
 
Produce outputs
 

(102,627)     Personnel costs (123,498) (103,000) (103,006) 
(77,581)     Operating expenses (75,350) (87,851) (110,526) 

(1,289)     Capital charge (1,402) (1,620) (1,397) 
(�8�,497) Total cash to operating activities (200,250) (�92,47�) (2�4,929) 

net cash inflow/(outflow) 
8,789   from operating activities �6 �8,433 ��,309 �4,738 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Cash was provided from: 

84 Sale of property, plant and equipment 88 – 240 
Cash was disbursed to: 

(10,242)   Purchase of property, plant and equipment (2,222) (3,030) (14,803) 
(2,659)   Purchase of intangible assets (7,982) (14,964) – 

(�2,8�7) net cash inflow/(outflow) (�0,��6) (�7,994) (�4,563)
  from investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Cash was provided from: 

1,400   Capital contribution from the Crown – 8,464 15,328 
Cash was disbursed to: 

(3,126)   Repayment of surplus to the Crown (457) (66) (198) 

(�,726) net cash inflow/(outflow) from (457) 8,398 �5,�30
  financing activities 

net increase/(decrease)  in cash and 
(5,754)   cash equivalents 7,860 �,7�3 �5,305 

Add cash and cash equivalents 
7,431   at the beginning of the year 1,677 20,505 1,677 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
�,677   end of the year 9,537 22,2�8 �6,982 

The notes set out on pages 70 to 95 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Statement of commitments 
as at 30 June 2008 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

7,853 

19,782 

11,584 

39,2�9 

5 

– 

– 

5 

39,224 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

7,390 Not later than one year 

21,244 Later than one year and not later than five years 

14,534 Later than five years 

43,�68 Total non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

Other non-cancellable commitments 

20 Not later than one year 

5 Later than one year and not later than five years 

– Later than five years 

25 Total other non -cancellable commitments 

43,�93 Total commitments 

The Ministry has medium to long-term leases on its premises in Auckland, Christchurch, Dunedin, 
Hamilton and Wellington. The annual lease payments are subject to regular reviews ranging from 
one year to four years. The amounts disclosed above as future commitments are based on the 
current rental rates. 

The Ministry has entered into non-cancellable contracts for computer maintenance, building 
services and other contacts for services. These non-cancellable contracts totalled $0.005 million 
as at 30 June 2008 (2007 $0.025 million). 

The notes set out on pages 70 to 95 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Statement of departmental expenses and capital 
expenditure against appropriations 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

Actual Voted^ 
Expenditure Appropriation 

30/6/08 30/6/08 
$000 $000 

Vote Health 

Appropriations for annual output expenses 

Administration of funding and purchasing of health 
  and disability support 28,874 28,894 

Administration of legislation and regulations 31,988 33,433 

Funding and performance of Crown entities 12,532 13,832 
Payment services 17,732 18,464 

Servicing of ministers and ministerial committees 21,629 21,679 

Strategy, policy and systems performance 30,704 32,432 

Information services 66,784 67,097 

Total output expenses 2�0,243 2�5,83� 

Appropriation for capital expenditure �0,202 �8,537 

Total departmental expenditure 220,445 234,368 

^ These amounts include adjustments made in the Supplementary Estimates. 

The notes set out on pages 70 to 95 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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Schedule of departmental unappropriated expenditure 
and capital expenditure 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 
There were four items of unappropriated expenditure during the year ended 30 June 2008 as 
follows: 

Actual unappropriated Actual Appropriation 
expenditure Appropriation expenditure expenditure Voted 
to 3�/3/08 to 3�/3/08 to 3�/3/08 to 30/6/08 to 30/6/08 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Vote Health 
Administration of legislation 
  and regulations 22,838 19,826 3,012 31,988 33,433 

Funding and performance of Crown 
  entities 9,217 7,982 1,235 12,532 13,832 

Information services 46,329 45,190 1,139 66,784 67,097 

Servicing of ministers and 
  ministerial committees 14,284 13,810 474 21,629 21,679 

Total 92,668 86,808 5,860 �32,933 �36,04� 

The unappropriated expenditure represented a technical breach of appropriations based on 
spending for the nine months to 31 March 2008. This breach occurred principally due to the 
delayed timing of approval of the March Baseline Update on 8 April 2008 giving rise to a technical 
breach over a nine-day period. These items will be submitted for formal validation by Parliament 
within the 2007/08 Financial Review Bill in accordance with section 26C of the Public Finance Act 
1989. At year end all departmental expenditure was within appropriation. 

While there was no unappropriated departmental expenditure for the full year ended 30 June 2008, 
the following table shows comparative figures for those items that exceeded appropriation for the 
2006/07 year, which were approved under section 26B of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

unappropriated 
expenditure 

2007 
$000 

unappropriated 
expenditure 

2008 
$000 

Vote Health 

720 Information services  – 

136 DHB funding and performance  – 

856 Total – 

The notes set out on pages 70 to 95 form part of, and are to be read in conjunction with, these financial statements. 
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notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

note �: Statement of accounting policies for the year 
ended 30 June 2008 
Reporting entity 
The Ministry of Health (the Ministry) is a government department as defined by section 2 of the 
Public Finance Act 1989 and is domiciled in New Zealand. 

The primary objective of the Ministry is to act as the Government’s agent to fund, administer and 
monitor the delivery of health services to New Zealanders, rather than making a financial return. 
Accordingly, the Ministry has designated itself as a public benefit entity for the purposes of New 
Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS). 

The Ministry’s financial statements are for the year ended 30 June 2008. The financial statements 
were authorised for issue by the Director-General of Health on 26 September 2008. 

In addition, the Ministry has reported the activities and trust monies that it administers on behalf 
of the Crown. 

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements of the Ministry for the year ended 30 June 2008 have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance Act 1989 which includes the requirement 
to comply with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). 

These are the Ministry’s first financial statements prepared by applying NZ IFRS and accordingly 
comparatives for the year ended 30 June 2007 have been restated using NZ IFRS. Reconciliations 
of equity and net surplus for the year ended 30 June 2007 under NZ IFRS to the balances previously 
reported in the 30 June 2007 financial statements are detailed in Note 24. 

Statement of compliance 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with New Zealand Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice. They comply with New Zealand equivalents to International 
Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), NZ IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements (issued 
2004) paragraphs NZ 13.1(d) and 105 (a) and other applicable Financial Reporting Standards as 
appropriate for public benefit entities.  

Accounting policies 
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented 
in these financial statements as well as in preparing an opening NZ IFRS Statement of financial 
position as at 1 July 2006 for the purpose of the transition to NZ IFRS. 

The measurement base applied to these financial statements is the historical cost basis modified 
by the revaluation of certain assets and liabilities as described in this statement of accounting 
policies. 

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars being the functional currency of the 
Ministry. Unless stated otherwise, all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000). 
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Foreign currency transactions are translated into the New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are translated at the rate of 
exchange applying at balance date. Any unrealised foreign exchange gains of losses resulting from 
such translation are recognised in the statement of financial performance. 

The accrual basis of accounting has been used unless otherwise stated.  

Standards and interpretation issued 

All relevant standards, interpretations, and amendments that have been issued, but are not yet 
effective, have not been early adopted by the Ministry. 

Reporting period 
The reporting period for these financial statements is the year ended 30 June 2008. 

The budget forecast figures (Main Estimates) are the original figures for the financial year as 
presented in the 2007 Budget on 17 May 2007. The supplementary estimates figures are those 
Budget figures as amended by the Supplementary Estimates (Supp. Estimates) as presented in the 
2008 Budget on 15 May 2008 and as adjusted by any transfers made by Order in Council under 
section 26 of the Public Finance Act 1989. 

Judgements and estimations 
The preparation of financial statements is in conformity with NZ IFRS requires judgements, 
estimates, and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based 
on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the reporting period in which the revision is made and in 
any future periods that will be affected by those revisions. 

Judgements that have a significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in notes: 9 Plant property and 
equipment; 10 Intangible assets; 13 Provisions and 14 Employee entitlements. 

Revenue 
The Ministry derives revenue through the provision of outputs to the Crown and for services to third 
parties. Such revenue is recognised at fair value of consideration received.  

Crown Revenue is recognised monthly as the amount of funding required to cover the portion of 
appropriated output expenses not covered by other third party revenue. 

Other revenue from the supply of services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction at balance date and only to the extent that the outcome of the transaction can be 
estimated reliably. 
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Cost allocation 
Direct costs are those costs directly attributed to an output. Indirect costs are those costs that 
cannot be identified in an economically feasible manner with any one specific output.  

Direct costs are charged directly to outputs while indirect costs are allocated to outputs based on 
the level of activity associated with relevant cost drivers.    

Depreciation is primarily charged to Business Units on the basis of asset utilisation with the 
remainder being charged as indirect costs. 

There have been no changes in the cost allocation policy since the date of the last audited financial 
statements.  

Taxation 
As a Government department, the Ministry is exempt from the payment of income tax in terms of 
the Income Tax Act 2004. Accordingly, no charge for income tax is recognised. 

Taxpayers’ funds 
The Crown’s net investment in the Ministry is shown as taxpayers’ funds in the Statement of 
movements in taxpayers’ funds and the Statement of Financial Position. 

Financial instruments 
The Ministry is party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These financial 
instruments include bank accounts, receivables and financial liabilities. Designation of financial 
assets and financial liabilities into instrument categories is determined by the business purpose 
of the financial instruments, policies and practices for their management, their relationship with 
other instruments and the reporting costs and benefits associated with each designation. The 
designations are reflected in the financial statements of the Ministry. 

Financial assets 

Receivables and advances have been designated as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables 
are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs 
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Loans and 
receivables issued with duration of less than 12 months are recognised at their nominal value, 
unless the effect of discounting is material. Allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash in transit, and bank accounts. At each 
balance date the Ministry assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. Any impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. 

Financial liabilities 

Creditors and payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Creditors and payables to 
be paid within the following 12 months are recognised at their nominal value, unless the effect of 
discounting is material.  

Derivatives 

Derivative financial instruments are recognised both initially and subsequently at fair value. They 
are reported as either assets or liabilities depending on whether the derivative is in a net gain or 
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net loss position respectively. The Ministry has a non-hedge policy and as such all derivatives are 
held-for-trading financial instruments with fair value gains or losses recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance.  

Property plant and equipment 
Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Where an asset is acquired 
for nil or nominal consideration the asset will be recognised initially at fair value, where fair value 
can be reliably determined. The fair value of the asset received, less costs incurred to acquire the 
asset, is recognised as revenue in the Statement of Financial Performance.  

Revaluations are carried out for the Ministry’s land and buildings to reflect the service potential or 
economic benefit obtained through control of the asset. Revaluation is based on the fair value of 
the asset, with changes reported by class of asset. 

Land is recorded at fair value less impairment losses. Buildings are recorded at fair value less 
impairment losses and less depreciation accumulated since the assets were last revalued.  
Valuations are based on either valuation undertaken in accordance with standards issued by the 
New Zealand Property Institute, if available, or valuation conducted in accordance with the Rating 
Valuation Act 1998 that has been confirmed as appropriate by an independent valuer. 

All other asset classes are initially carried at depreciated historical cost, with a review of the 
carrying values of revalued items performed at each balance date to determine whether any 
material adjustment is required. 

Classes of property, plant and equipment subject to fair value review are revalued at least every 
three years or sooner where indicators suggest the carrying amount differs materially to fair value. 
Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the value of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised as at each balance date. To the extent that a gain reverses a loss previously charged to 
the Statement of Financial Performance for the asset class, the gain is credited to the Statement 
of Financial Performance; otherwise gains are credited to the asset revaluation reserve for that 
class of asset. To the extent that there is a balance in the asset revaluation reserve for the asset 
class, any loss on revaluation is debited to the reserve to the extent that a balance remains in 
such reserve. All other losses on Property plant and equipment are reported in the Statement of 
Financial Performance. 

Accumulated depreciation at revaluation date may be either restated proportionately or eliminated 
against the gross carrying amount so that the carrying amount after revaluation equals the 
revalued amount. The elimination approach is applied unless otherwise indicated.  

For each property, plant and equipment asset, project borrowing costs incurred during the period 
required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use are expensed. 

The carrying amounts of plant, property and equipment are reviewed at least annually to 
determine if there is any indication of impairment. Where an asset’s recoverable amount is less 
than its carrying amount, it will be reported at its recoverable amount and an impairment loss 
will be recognised. Losses resulting from impairment are reported in the Statement of Financial 
Performance unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount in which case any impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent to which that the revaluation relates to the impaired 
asset class. 
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Depreciation is charged on a straight-line basis at rates calculated to allocate the cost or valuation 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated 
useful life. Typically, the estimated useful lives of different classes of property, plant and 
equipment are as follows. 

useful life Depreciation rate 

Buildings      40 years 2.5% 

Motor vehicles      5 years 20% 
Furniture and fittings 5–10 years 10–20% 
Machinery      5 years 20% 
Leasehold improvements 5–10 years 10–20% 
IT equipment   3–5 years 20–33.3% 
Scientific equipment 5–10 years 10–20% 

Additions 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is 
probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the item will flow to the 
Ministry and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 

Disposals 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the sale proceeds with the carrying 
amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are included in the statement of financial 
performance. When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in asset revaluation reserves 
in respect of those assets are transferred to retained earnings. 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are initially recorded at cost. The cost of an internally generated intangible asset 
represents expenditure incurred in the development phase of the asset only. The development 
phase occurs after the following can be demonstrated: technical feasibility; ability to complete 
the asset; intention and ability to sell or use; and where development expenditure can be reliably 
measured.  Expenditure incurred on research related to an internally generated intangible asset 
is expensed when it is incurred. Where the research phase cannot be distinguished from the 
development phase, the expenditure is expensed when it is incurred. 

Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently recorded at cost less any amortisation and 
impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the Statement of Financial Performance on a 
straight-line basis over the useful life of the asset. Typically, the estimated useful lives of these 
assets are as follows. 

useful life Amortisation rate 

Software – internally generated       3–5 years 20–33.3% 

Software – other        3–5 years 20–33.3% 

Warranties           3 years 33.3% 
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Realised gains and losses arising from disposal of intangible assets are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance in the period in which the transaction occurs.  

Intangible assets are reviewed at least annually to determine if there is any indication of 
impairment. Where an intangible asset’s recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, it will 
be reported at its recoverable amount and an impairment loss recognised. Losses resulting from 
impairment are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance. 

non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
Non-current assets or disposal groups are separately classified where their carrying amount will 
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than continuing use; that is, where such assets are 
available for immediate sale and where sale is highly probable. These assets are recorded at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. 

Employee benefits 
Employee entitlements to salaries and wages, annual leave, long service leave, retiring leave and 
other similar benefits are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance when they accrue 
to employees. Employee entitlements to be settled within 12 months are reported at the amount 
expected to be paid. The liability for long-term employee entitlements is calculated on an actuarial 
basis at the present value of estimated future cash outflows. 

Termination benefits are recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance only when there is 
a demonstrable commitment to either terminate employment prior to normal retirement date or 
to provide such benefits as a result of an offer to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination 
benefits settled within 12 months are reported at the amount expected to be paid, otherwise they 
are reported as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows. 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance as they fall due. Obligations for defined benefit retirement 
plans are recorded at the latest actuarial value of the Ministry’s liability. All movements in the 
liability, including actuarial gains and losses, are recognised in full in the Statement of Financial 
Performance in the period in which they occur. All actuarial gains and losses as at the date of 
transition to NZ IFRS were recognised. 

Insurance contracts 
The Ministry belongs to the ACC Partnership Programme whereby the Ministry accepts the 
management and financial responsibility of work-related illnesses and accidents of employees.  
Under the ACC Partnership Programme, the Ministry is effectively providing accident insurance to 
employees and is accounted for as an insurance contract as the Ministry accepts liability for all 
its claims costs for a period of four years up to a specified maximum. At the end of the four-year 
period, the Ministry pays a premium to ACC for the value of residual claims, and the liability for 
ongoing claims beyond that point passes to ACC. 

The liability relating to the Ministry’s ACC Partnership Programme obligations is measured at 
the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of the employee injuries 
and claims, for which the Ministry has responsibility up to the reporting date, using actuarial 
techniques.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels and experience of 
employee claims and injuries to date, and may include a risk margin that represents the inherent 
uncertainty of the present value of the expected future payments.  Expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields applying as at the reporting date based on government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  
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leases 
An operating lease is a lease that does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset. 

Lease payments under an operating lease net of lease incentives received are recognised as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised 
evenly over the term of the lease as a reduction in rental expense. 

Leasehold improvements are capitalised and the cost is amortised over the unexpired period of the 
lease, or the estimated useful life of the improvements whichever is shorter.   

Provisions 
The Ministry recognises a provision for future expenditure of uncertain amount or timing where 
there is a present obligation (either legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable 
that expenditures will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of 
that obligation can be made. 

Provisions are recorded at the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation 
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation. Provisions to be settled beyond 12 months are recorded at 
their present value. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are recorded in the Statement of Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets at the point at which the contingency becomes evident. Contingent 
liabilities are disclosed if the possibility that they will crystallise is not remote. Contingent assets 
are disclosed if it is probable that the benefits will be realised. 

Changes in accounting policies 
Accounting policies are changed only if the change is required by a standard or interpretation or 
otherwise provides more reliable and more relevant information. Apart from changes in policies as 
a result of the transition to NZ IFRS, there have been no other changes in accounting policies. Apart 
from those policies affected by the transition to NZ IFRS, all policies have been applied on a basis 
consistent with the previous year. 

Comparative figures 
When presentation or classification of items in the financial statements is amended or accounting 
policies are changed, comparative figures are restated to ensure consistency with the current 
period unless it is impracticable to do so. Restatement requirements for the transition to NZ IFRS 
have been described in Note 24. 

Segment reporting 
As a public benefit entity, the Ministry is not required to provide segment reporting. 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
All items in the financial statements are stated exclusive of GST, except for receivables and 
payables, which are stated on a GST inclusive basis. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) as at 
balance date is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing 
activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in the statement of cash flows. 
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note 2: Revenue – other
 
Actual 
2007 
$000 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

9,297 

4,064 

1,721 

2,025 

774 

668 

�8,549 

7,048 Medicines registration 

4,719 Service fees 

1,766 Annual licence and registration fees 

1,744 State Sector Retirement Saving Scheme recovery 

1,008 Other departmental revenue 

426 Other 

�6,7�� Total revenue other 

note 3: Gains
 
Actual 
2008 
$000 

49 

49 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

66 Net gain on disposal of property, plant, and equipment 

66 Total gains 

note 4: Personnel costs
 
Actual 
2008 
$000 

111,227 

2,506 

704 

10,279 

�24,7�6 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

95,798 Salaries and wages 

2,223 Employer contributions to defined contribution plans 

357 Increase/(decrease) in employee entitlements 

4,629 Other 

�03,007 Total personnel costs 

note 5: Capital charge 
The Ministry pays a capital charge to the Crown on its taxpayers’ funds as at 30 June and 
31 December each year. The capital charge rate for the year ended 30 June 2008 was 7.5% 
(2007: 7.5%). 

note 6: Finance costs 
The Ministry has a policy of not entering into finance leases and as such incurs no significant 
finance costs. 
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note 7: Other operating costs
 
Actual 
2007 
$000 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

277 

19 

48 

8,326 

8,909 

836 

– 

4 

– 

– 

57,052 

75,47� 

309 Audit fees for the financial statements audit
 

6 
 Audit fees for NZ IFRS transition 

– Audit related fees for assurance and related services 

8,037 Operating lease payments 

7,692 Consultancy 

696 Maintenance
 

11 Net foreign exchange losses
 

18 ACC Partnership Programme
 

831 Asset write-offs 

436 Revaluation loss on property 

54,396 Other operating expenses 

72,432 Total other operating expenses 

note 8: Debtors and other receivables
 
Actual 
2007 
$000 

13,836 Debtors – Crown 

605 Debtors – departments 

526 Debtors – other 

�4,967 net debtors 

308 Accrued revenue 

�5,275 Total debtors and other receivables 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

14,187 

1,193 

248 

�5,628 

164 

�5,792 

As at 30 June 2008 all overdue receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate 
provisions applied, as detailed below: 

2007 2008 
Gross Impairment net Gross Impairment 

Not past due 14,849 – 14,849 15,133 – 

Past due 1–30 days 67 – 67 58 – 

Past due 31–60 days 15 – 15 278 – 

Past due 61–90 days 14 – 14 73 – 

Past due > 90 days 22 – 22 86 – 

Total Debtors �4,967 – �4,967 �5,628 – 

net 

15,133 

58 

278 

73 

86 

�5,628 

The Ministry has no provision for doubtful debts at 30 June 2008 (2007 Nil).  There were no 
expected losses for the Ministry’s pool of debtors, based on analysis of the Ministry’s losses in 
previous periods, and review of specific debtors at balance date. 
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note 9: Property, plant and equipment
 
Buildings/ Furniture 
leasehold plant and Motor Computer 

land improvements equipment vehicles hardware Total 
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

  Cost or valuation

  Balance as at � July 2006 4,000 �3,0�0 9,20� 520 38,076 64,807 

  Additions – 1,022 841 – 8,379 10,242 

  Disposals – (6,668) (2,251) (74) (4,990) (13,983)

  Balance as at 30 June 2007 4,000 7,364 7,79� 446 4�,465 6�,066

  Balance as at � July 2007 4,000 7,364 7,79� 446 4�,465 6�,066

  Additions – 437 806 179 798 2,220

  Revaluation increase/(decrease) 1,350 – – – – 1,350

  Disposals _ (11) (221) (150) (1,147) (1,529)

  Balance as at 30 June 2008 5,350 7,790 8,376 475 4�,��6 63,�07 

  Accumulated depreciation and 
    impairment losses

  Balance as at � July 2006 – 8,923 6,�0� 325 30,647 45,996

  Depreciation expense – 684 569 58 3,692 5,003

  Eliminate on disposals – (6,668) (2,248) (58) (4,904) (13,878)

  Balance as at 30 June 2007 – 2,939 4,422 325 29,435 37,�2�

  Balance � July 2007 – 2,939 4,422 325 29,435 37,�2�

  Depreciation expense – 609 583 49 3,855 5,096

  Eliminate on disposals – (5) (221) (118) (1,146) (1,490)

  Balance as at 30 June 2008 – 3,543 4,784 256 32,�44 40,727

  Carrying amounts

  At 30 June 2006 4,000 4,087 3,100 195 7,429 18,811

  At 30 June 2007 4,000 4,425 3,369 121 12,030 23,945

  At 30 June 2008 5,350 4,247 3,592 2�9 8,972 22,380 

Land and buildings have been revalued at fair value on 6th March 2008 by an independently 
contracted registered valuer, W Blake ANZIV/SPINZ, of Simes Limited while having regard for the 
following: 

• reference to evidence of comparative local property sales values 

• market capitalisation of comparative local property rental rates 

• continuing use by the Ministry. 
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note �0: Intangible assets
 
Internally 

Acquired generated 
software software Total 

$000 $000 $000 

Cost 

Balance as at � July 2006 2,5�9 23,�77 25,696 

Additions 1,048 1,611 2,659 

Disposals (505) (208) (713) 

Balance as at 30 June 2007 3,062 24,580 27,642 

Balance as at � July 2007 3,062 24,580 27,642 

Additions 3,342 4,640 7,982 

Disposals 

Balance as at 30 June 2008 

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 

Balance as at � July 2006 �,895 �2,624 �4,5�9 

Amortisation expense 612 2,653 3,265 

Disposals (492) (208) (700) 

Balance as at 30 June 2007 2,0�5 �5,069 �7,084 

Balance � July 2007 2,0�5 �5,069 �7,084 

Amortisation expense 1,127 2,431 3,558 

Disposals 

Balance as at 30 June 2008 

Carrying amounts 

At 30 June 2006 624 10,553 11,177 

At 30 June 2007 1,047 9,511 10,558 

(242) (919) (1,161) 

6,�62 28,30� 34,463 

(242) (919) (1,161) 

2,900 �6,58� �9,48� 

3,262 ��,720 �4,982 At 30 June 2008 

There are no restrictions over the title of the Ministry’s intangible assets nor are any intangibles 
pledged as security for liabilities. 
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note ��: Creditors and other payables
 
Actual 
2007 
$000 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

3,981 

5,676 

11,894 

2,433 

23,984 

7,202 Creditors
 

4,345 Income in advance
 

8,698 Accrued expenses
 

2,189 GST payable
 

22,434 Total creditors and other payables 

note �2: Provision for repayment of surplus to the Crown
 
Actual 
2008 
$000 

7,432 

– 

7,432 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

198 Net surplus/(deficit)
 

259 Retrospective NZ IFRS adjustments added back
 

457 Total provision for repayment of surplus 

note �3: Provisions
 
Actual 
2008 
$000 

1,519 

1,027 

592 

18 

3,�56 

57 

57 

3,2�3 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

Current provisions are represented by: 
450 Restructuring 

1,050 Performance incentive 

323 Project development 

17 ACC Partnership Programme 

�,840 	 Total current portion 

non-current provisions are represented by: 

54 ACC Partnership Programme 

54 Total non-current portion 

�,894 Total provisions 
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Movements in provisions during the year
 

ACC 
Performance Project Partnership 

Restructuring Incentive Development Programme 
$000 $000 $000 $000 

Opening balance 1 July 2007 450 1,050 323 71 

Additional provision made 1,519 1,252 269 328 

Amounts applied – (1,275) – (55) 

Unused amounts reversed (450) – – (269) 

Closing balance 30 June 2008 �,5�9 �,027 592 75 

Total 
$000 

1,894 

3,368 

(1,330) 

(719) 

3,2�3 

Restructuring 
The restructuring provision arises from internal restructuring within each of the Ministry’s 
Information Services and Health and Disability Systems Strategy directorates that were announced 
and planned prior to balance date. It is anticipated that in both cases restructuring will be 
completed within 12 months of the balance date. 

ACC Partnership programme 
The liability for the ACC Partnership programme is measured at the present value of expected 
future payments to be made with respect to employee injuries and claims received up until the 
reporting date using actuarial calculations. Consideration is given to expected future salary levels 
and experience of employee injuries and claims history. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields on national government bonds at the reporting date with terms to maturity that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The Ministry manages its exposure arising from the programme by promoting a safe and healthy 
working environment by: 

• implementing and monitoring health and safety policies 

• induction training on health and safety 

• actively managing work place injuries to ensure employees return to work as soon as practical 

•	 recording and monitoring work place injuries and near miss events to identify risk areas and 
implementing mitigating actions 

• identification of work hazards and implementation of appropriate safety procedures. 

The Ministry has adopted a stop loss limit of 168% of the industry premium for the year ended 30 
June 2008. The stop loss limit meant the Ministry only carried exposure for total cost of claims up 
to $180,554. The stop loss limit will rise to 225% of the industry premium for the 2008/09 
financial year. 

The Ministry is not exposed to any significant concentrations of insurance risk as work related 
injuries are generally the result of an isolated event to an individual employee. 

An external independent actuarial valuer, Mr Mark Weaver (FIANZ), has calculated the Ministry’s 
liability, and the valuation is effective as at 30 June 2008. The valuer has attested he is satisfied 
as to the nature, sufficiency, and accuracy of the data used to determine the outstanding claims 
liability. There are no qualifications contained in the actuarial valuer’s report.  
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The outstanding claims liability figure is made up of three components, the ‘incurred but not 
reported’ (IBNR) claims, reopen claims and open claims. The IBNR claims and the reopen claims 
numbers are derived using standard ACC factors. These factors make an allowance for discounting 
anticipated IBNR rates and reopen claims rates by 6.1% and 6.23% respectively. No further 
adjustments for discounting are considered necessary. Case estimates relating to open claims are 
neither inflated nor discounted by the Ministry’s claims administration provider, meaning that in 
effect the open claims are discounted at the rate of inflation.  

The value of the liability is not material for the Ministry’s financial statements.  Any changes in 
assumptions will not, therefore, have a material effect on these financial statements. 

note �4:  Employee entitlements 
Actual 
2008 
$000 

5,828 

119 

628 

1,217 

7,792 

1,499 

9,29� 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

Current employee entitlements are represented by: 

5,034 Annual leave 

74 Sick Leave 

512 Retirement and long service leave 

1,745 Accrued salaries 

7,365 Total current portion 

non-current employee entitlements are represented by: 

1,222 Retirement and long service leave 

8,587 Total employee entitlements 

The present value of the retirement and long service leave entitlements depend on a number 
of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. Two key 
assumptions applied when calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary 
inflation factor. Any changes in these assumptions will have significant impact on the carrying 
value of the liability. 

In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Ministry considered interest rates on NZ 
government bonds that have terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. The salary inflation factor has been determined after considering historical 
salary inflation patterns and after obtaining advice from the independent actuary. 

If the discount rate were to differ by 1 percentage point from the Ministry’s estimates, with all other 
factors held constant, the carrying amount of the total liability would be an estimated average 
$106,000 higher/lower. 

If the salary inflation rate were to differ by 1 percentage point from the Ministry’s estimates, with 
all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the total liability would be an estimated 
average $108,000 higher/lower. 
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note �5: Taxpayers’ funds 
Taxpayers’ funds compromises two components: general funds and revaluation reserve. 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

�8,623 

7,432 

– 

(7,432) 

�8,623 

– 

1,350 

– 

�,350 

�9,973 

1,350 

�,350 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

General funds 

�4,682 Balance at � July 

198 Net surplus/(deficit) 


1,400 Capital contribution
 

2,800 Transfer from revaluation reserve
 

(457) Provision for repayment of surplus to the Crown 

�8,623 	 General funds at 30 June 

Revaluation reserves
 
2,364 As at � July
 

Revaluation gains/(losses) 

436 Revaluation changes at 30 June 

(2,800) Transfer to general funds 

– Revaluation reserves at 30 June 

�8,623	 Total taxpayers' funds 

Revaluation reserves consist of: 
– Land revaluation reserve 

– Total revaluation reserves 
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note �6: Reconciliation of net surplus to net cash flow from 
operating activities 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

7,432 

8,654 

– 

8,654 

(49) 

(165) 

(351) 

(661) 

1,550 

1,319 

704 

2,396 

�8,433 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

�98 net surplus/(deficit) 

Add/(less) non-cash items: 
8,268 Depreciation and amortisation expense
 

436 Other non-cash items
 

8,704 Total non-cash items 

Add/(less) items classified as investing or financing activities: 
(66) (Gains) / losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment 

Add/(less) movements in working capital items: 
(323) (Inc) / dec in debtors and receivables
 

3,916 (Inc) / dec in debtor Crown
 

(86) (Inc) / dec in prepayments 

(5,805) Inc / (dec) in creditors and payables 

1,894 	 Inc / (dec) in provisions
 

357 Inc / (dec) in employee entitlements
 

(47) net movements in working capital items 

8,789 net cash from operating activities 

note �7: Related party transactions and key management 
personnel 

Related party transactions 
The Ministry is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The Government significantly influences the 
roles of the Ministry as well as being its major source of revenue. 

The Ministry enters into transactions with other government departments, Crown entities (including 
District Health Boards), and other state-owned enterprises on an arm’s length basis. Those 
transactions are considered by the Ministry to have occurred within a normal supplier or client 
relationship on terms no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the 
Ministry would have adopted if dealing with that entity at arm’s length in the same circumstances.  
Such transactions are considered to not be related party transactions and are not disclosed. 

The following transactions were carried out with related parties. 

• There are close family members of key management personnel employed by the Ministry.  
The terms and conditions of those employment arrangements are no more favourable than the 
Ministry would have adopted if there were no relationship to key management personnel. 

 Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2008 85 



 

 

  

 

  

 

 

    
    
   

   

   

   

 
 

 

 

 

  

 

• During the year the Ministry purchased advertising space on Samoan Capital Radio, for which 
the Deputy Director-General of the Sector Capability and Innovation directorate is a Director. 
The Deputy Director-General was appointed to this position during the financial year.  This 
advertising cost $3,375 and services were supplied on normal commercial terms.  There was no 
outstanding balance at year end. 

• During the year the Ministry contracted on behalf of the Crown with Presbyterian Support 
Services – Northern, for which the Deputy Director-General of the Sector Capability and 
Innovation directorate is a Director. The Deputy Director-General was appointed to this position 
during the financial year. The value of services provided under contract during the year totalled 
$1,159,610 and were negotiated on normal commercial terms. There were no outstanding 
balances under contracts with this related party as at year end. 

No provision has been required, nor any expense recognised, for impairment from related parties. 

Key management personnel compensation 

Actual 
2007 
$000 

2,200 

109 

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 

Termination benefits 

2,309 Total key management personnel compensation 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

2,393 

– 

2,393 

Key management personnel include the Director-General of Health, and the eight Deputy Directors-
General that form the core of the Ministry’s Executive Leadership Team.  For the 2007/08 year, key 
management personnel included individuals ‘acting’ in the capacity of Deputy Director-General 
of each of the eight directorates prior to the appointment of new personnel to these positions 
following the Ministry’s July 2007 restructuring.  

note �8: Events after the balance sheet date 
There have been no significant events after the balance sheet date. 

note �9: Financial instrument risks 
The Ministry’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks including market risk, 
credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Ministry has policies in place to manage the risk associated with 
financial instruments and continually seeks to minimise risk from exposure to financial instruments. 
These policies do not allow any transactions of a speculative nature to be entered into. 

Market risk 
Currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in foreign exchange rates. 

The Ministry has no significant exposure to currency risk on any financial instruments. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows from a financial instrument will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates. 

The Ministry has no significant exposure to interest rate risk on any of its financial instruments. 
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Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Ministry, causing the 
Ministry to incur a loss. 

In the normal course of business, credit risk arises from debtors and other accounts receivable, 
deposits with banks, and derivative financial instruments.  

In accordance with New Zealand Treasury policy, the Ministry is only permitted to deposit funds 
with Westpac Banking Corporation, a registered bank, and to enter into foreign exchange forward 
contracts with the New Zealand Debt Management Office. These entities have high market credit 
ratings. With respect to its remaining financial instruments, the Ministry does not have significant 
concentrations of credit risk.  

The Ministry’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instruments is represented 
by the total carrying amount of cash, and cash equivalents, net debtors, and derivative financial 
instrument assets. The Ministry holds no collateral as security against these financial instruments, 
including those that are overdue or impaired. 

The fair value of all financial instruments is equivalent to the carrying value disclosed in the 
Statement of financial position. 

The Ministry held no bank overdraft facilities as at 30 June 2008. 

liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Ministry will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet its 
payment commitments as they fall due. 

In meeting its liquidity requirements the Ministry closely monitors its forecast cash requirements 
with expected cash draw downs from the New Zealand Debt Management Office. The Ministry 
maintains a target level of available cash to meet its liquidity requirements. 

The table below analyses the Ministry’s financial liabilities that will be settled based on the 
remaining period at the balance date to the contracted maturity date. The amounts disclosed are 
the contracted undiscounted cash flows. 

less than 6 
months 

$000 

Between 6 
months and 

� year 
$000 

Between � 
and 5 years 

$000 
Over 5 years 

$000

 2007

  Creditors and other payables 

2008
  Creditors and other payables 

22,434 

23,984 

– 

– 

– 

– 

_ 

– 
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note 20: Categories of financial instruments
 
Actual 
2007 
$000 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

9,537 

15,792 

25,329 

(23,984) 

loans and receivables 
1,677 Cash and cash equivalents
 

15,275 Debtors and other receivables
 

�6,952 Total loans and receivables 

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 
(22,434) Creditors and other payables 

note 2�: Capital management 
The Ministry’s capital is its equity (or taxpayers’ funds) that comprise general funds and 
revaluation reserves.  Equity is represented by net assets. 

The Ministry manages its revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, and general financial dealings in 
a prudent manner.  The Ministry’s equity is largely managed as a by-product of managing income, 
expenses, assets, liabilities and its need to both comply with Government Budget processes, and 
The Treasury instructions. 

The objective of managing the Ministry’s equity is to ensure the Ministry effectively achieves its 
goals and objectives, for which it has been established, while remaining a going concern. 
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note 22: Memorandum accounts 
Since October 2004 the Ministry has, in accordance with the Gambling Act 2003, received 
an appropriation for problem gambling that over time is intended to be fully funded from the 
levies collected from the industry, on behalf of the Crown, by the Inland Revenue Department.  
The following table shows a comparison between the Ministry’s appropriation for, and actual 
expenditure on initiatives in relation to problem gambling and the levies collected to date. 

Problem gambling 

Appropriation^ 
$000 

Expenditure* 
$000 

levies collected 
(IRD) 
$000 

Transition costs prior to introduction 
  of levy strategy 

Prior years non-departmental amount 

Prior years departmental amount 

Total to 30 June 2007 

-

46,946 

2,094 

49,040 

1,291 

43,056 

2,350 

46,697 38,520 

2007/08 year non-departmental amount 

2007/08 year departmental amount 

Total for year ended 30 June 2008 

17,289 

950 

�8,239 

15,725 

1,108 

�6,833 20,8�5 

Accumulated totals to June 2008 67,279 63,530 59,335 

^	 Appropriation figures include both departmental and non-departmental budgeted amounts and exclude output expense budget 
amounts carried forward from one year to the following year. 

^	 In addition to the non-departmental problem gambling appropriation, accumulated appropriation figures for each year to 30 June 
2007 included $357,000 and $341,000 from the Public Health and Mental Health departmental appropriations respectively. These 
totalled $698,000 per year and totalled $2,094,000 to June 2007. Effective from 1 July 2007, this figure of $698,000 per year 
increased to $950,000 per year and, following the restructure of departmental appropriations, now forms part of the ‘Administration 
of Legislation and Regulations’ appropriation. 

* 	 Actual figures for 2004/05 were previously reported as GST inclusive within the memorandum accounts of that year. 

national Radiation laboratory: licensing activities 
A memorandum account was established on 1 July 1998 for National Radiation Laboratory 
licensing activities required by the Radiation Protection Act 1965. The following table shows the 
amounts of revenue and expenses relating to licensing activities. 

Actual Actual 
2007 2008 
$000 $000 

licensing Fees 

218 Balance at 1 July 305 

745 Revenue 762 

(658) Expenses^ (713) 

305 Balance at 30 June 354 

^ Expenses for the year ended 30 June 2007 have been restated to include $256,000 of cost recoveries and overheads previously 
omitted from the 2007 expenses as reported within the Annual Report for the year ended 2007. 
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Medsafe 
Pursuant to the Medicines Act 1981, Medsafe derives third-party fee revenue from the medicines 
and pharmaceutical industry from licence applications to approve new or changed medicines, and 
for clinical trials. A memorandum account has been established effective from 1 July 2007 to match 
accumulated licence revenue collected against the expenses incurred to process applications. This 
information will be used to ensure that, over time, fees will be set at a level as to ensure revenue 
collected equates to equivalent levels of costs incurred. 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

_ 

8,999 
(7,852) 

�,�47 

Medsafe 

Balance at 1 July 

Revenue 
Expenses 

Balance at 30 June 

Because the year ended 30 June 2008 is the first year this information has been captured, no 
comparative figures are reported. 

note 23: Explanation of major variances against budget 
Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s estimated figures in the statement of intent 
are as follows.  

Statement of financial performance 

Revenue Crown 
Crown revenue was $5.8 million above budget to provide fully for the new initiatives, and 
rephasing of existing activities. 

Revenue Other 
Revenue from sources other than the Crown was $7.8 million higher than budget due mainly to a 
realignment of the split between Crown and other revenue, and increases in medicines registration 
fees. 

Personnel costs 
Personnel costs were higher than that budget by $21.7 million because of higher staff numbers 
and increases in remuneration. The increase in staff numbers reflects the increase in funding 
related to new initiatives. 

Other operating expenses 
Other operating costs were lower than budget by $12.6 million as a result of savings in travel costs, 
professional and specialist fees, and other general operating costs. 
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Statement of financial position 

Revaluation reserves 
The 2007/08 figure arose from a revaluation of the Christchurch property in March 2008. 

Cash and cash equivalents and debtors and other receivables 
The actual year end cash balance was $12.7 million lower than budgeted primarily due to effective 
cash management, and thus drawing less cash, than previously envisaged, from The Treasury. 

Property, plant and equipment, and Intangible assets 
The increase of $3.7 million in property, plant and equipment against the main budget was offset 
by a $3.3 million decrease in intangibles. This was because at the time of setting the budget the 
split between the classes of assets was not fully ascertained. 

Repayment of surplus 
The repayment of surplus provision reflects the actual surplus generated from under spends 
against appropriations, while at the time of budget setting no surplus figure is assumed to be 
derived from the year’s activities. 

Provisions 
The increase of $1.3 million in provisions over that budgeted related to the restructuring of the 
Health and Disability Systems Strategy and Information directorates announced prior to year end. 

Statement of cash flows 

Cash from operating activities 
The increases in both Crown receipts and other receipts reflected the increases in revenue reported 
in the statement of financial performance. Increases in personnel and other operating costs also 
reflected the increases in expenditure reported in the statement of financial performance. 

Cash from investing activities 
Purchases of intangible assets (computer software) were $7 million less than budget due to the 
national systems development programme expenditure running behind forecast.  

Cash from financing activities 
As a result of the capital asset additions being funded internally from non-cash depreciation 
and amortisation, the budgeted capital contribution of $8.4 million was not called upon. 
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note 24: Explanation of the transition to nZ IFRS 
Transition to nZ IFRS 
The Ministry’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2008 are the first financial 
statements that comply with NZ IFRS. The Ministry has applied NZ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
NZ IFRS in preparing these financial statements. The Ministry’s transition date is 1 July 2006. The 
Ministry prepared its opening NZ IFRS balance sheet as at that date. The reporting date of these 
financial statements is 30 June 2008 and as such the Ministry’s NZ IFRS adoption date is from 
1 July 2007. 

Exemptions from full retrospective application elected by the Ministry 
The only mandatory exception from retrospective application that applies to the Ministry is the 
requirement that estimates as at 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007 be consistent with estimates 
made for the same date under previous NZ GAAP.  In all other respects the Ministry has adopted full 
retrospective application in transitioning to NZ IFRS. 
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Reconciliation of equity 
The following table shows the changes in equity, resulting from the transition from previous 
NZ  GAAP to NZ IFRS as at 1 July 2006 and 30 June 2007. 

Effect on Effect on 
Previous transition Previous transition 
nZ GAAP to nZ IFRS nZ IFRS nZ GAAP to nZ IFRS nZ IFRS 

note 
�/07/06 

$000 
�/07/06 

$000 
�/07/06 

$000 
30/06/07 

$000 
30/06/07 30/06/07 

$000 $000 
Assets 
Current assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 

Debtors and other receivables 

Prepayments 

Total current assets 

non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 

Intangible assets 

Total non-current assets 
Total assets 

liabilities 
Current liabilities 
Creditors and other payables 

Provision for repayment of surplus 

Provisions 

Employee entitlements 

Total current liabilities 

non-current liabilities 
Provisions 

Employee entitlements 

Total non-current liabilities 
Total liabilities 

net assets 
Taxpayers' funds 
General funds 

Revaluation reserve 

Total taxpayers' funds 

a 

a 

b 

b, c 

d 

b,c 

b,c,d 

7,431 – 7,431 1,677 – 1,677 

18,868 – 18,868 15,275 – 15,275 

454 – 454 540 – 540 

26,753 – 26,753 �7,492 – �7,492 

29,889 (11,177) 18,712 34,503 (10,558) 23,945 

– 11,177 11,177 – 10,558 10,558 

29,889 – 29,889 34,503 – 34,503 
56,642 – 56,642 5�,995 – 5�,995 

28,239 – 28,239 24,092 (1,658) 22,434 

3,127 – 3,127 457 – 457 

– – – – 1,840 1,840 

4,646 51 4,697 7,291 74 7,365 

36,0�2 5� 36,063 3�,840 256 32,096 

– – – – 54 54 

3,533 3,533 1,222 1,222 

3,533 – 3,533 �,222 54 �,276 
39,545 5� 39,596 33,062 3�0 33,372 

�7,097 (5�) �7,046 �8,933 (3�0) �8,623 

14,733 2,749 17,482 16,133 2,490 18,623 

2,364 (2,800) (436) 2,800 (2,800) – 

�7,097 (5�) �7,046 �8,933 (3�0) �8,623 

Explanatory notes – reconciliation of equity 

a. Intangibles assets – computer software 
Under previous NZ GAAP computer software was classified as property, plant and equipment. On 
transition to NZ IFRS, computer software has been reclassified as intangible assets with net book 
value being $11.557 million as at 30 June 2006 and $10.558 million as at June 2007. 
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b. Creditors and other payables 
Under previous NZ GAAP ‘Provisions’ were classified within the total for ‘creditors and other payables’ 
Under NZ IFRS current provisions of $1.840 million and non-current provisions of $0.054 million as at 30 
June 2007 have been reclassified as provisions to comply with NZ IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities 
and Contingent Assets. 

Under previous NZ GAAP the Ministry recognised the full benefit of rental contract incentives at 
the front end of the lease period. Under NZ IFRS, NZ SIC 15 Operating Leases – Incentives, requires 
recognition of the aggregate benefit of lease incentives as a reduction of the rental expense over 
the term of the lease on a straight line basis unless another systematic basis is representative of 
the time pattern of the lessee’s benefit from the use of the leased asset. The value of the lease 
incentives remaining beyond 30 June 2007 was $0.236 million. 

c. Provisions – ACC Partnership Programme 
Under previous NZ GAAP, while a separate future claims liability was recognised it was not 
separately classified as a provision nor was it accounted for as an insurance contract. Under NZ 
IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, the Ministry is required to recognise the present value of expected 
future payments for amounts in relation to unpaid reported claims, claims incurred but not 
reported and claims incurred for which no information is yet available. Within the reclassification 
of $1.840 million from ‘creditors and other payables’ to current provisions as at 30 June 2007, 
$0.017 million related to the ACC partnership programme, while a further $0.054 million 
reclassified from ‘creditors and other payables’ to non-current provisions as at 30 June 2008 
related to the balance of the ACC partnership programme provision. 

d. Employee entitlements – sick leave 
Under previous NZ GAAP, sick leave was not recognised as a liability. Under NZ IFRS IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits requires the Ministry to recognise employees’ unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried 
forward at balance date, to the extent that the Ministry anticipates it will be used by staff to cover 
future absences.  Accordingly current employee entitlements have been increased by $0.051 
million as at 1 July 2006 and a further $0.023 million to 30 June 2007. 
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Reconciliation of surplus 
The following table shows the changes in the Ministry’s surplus, resulting from the transition from 
previous NZ  GAAP to NZ IFRS, for the year ended 30 June 2007. 

note 

Previous 
nZ GAAP 

30 June 2007 
$000 

Effect of 
Transition 
to nZ IFRS 

30 June 2007 
$000 

nZ IFRS 
30 June 2007 

$000 

Revenue 

Crown 

Other 

Gains 

a 

a 

168,417 

16,777 (66) 

66 

168,417 

16,711 

66 

Total operating revenue �85,�94 – �85,�94 

Expenditure 

Personnel costs 

Depreciation and amortisation 

Capital charge                

Other operating expenses 

b 

c 

102,984 

8,268 

1,289 

72,196 

23 

236 

103,007 

8,268 

1,289 

72,432 

Total expenses �84,737 259 �84,996 

net surplus 457 (259) �98 

Explanatory notes – reconciliation of surplus 

a. Gains 
This represents a reclassification of the gains on sale of assets that were included within ‘other 
revenue’ under previous NZ GAAP. 

b. Personnel costs – Sick leave 
This represents the increase in the sick leave provision not recognised under previous NZ GAAP. 

c. Other operating expenses – occupancy costs 
This represents the value of lease incentives not previously recognised as a reduction of the rental 
expense over the term of the lease under previous NZ GAAP. The incentive benefits relate to rental 
costs ($0.133 million) and building operating costs ($0.103 million) at 30 June 2007. 

Statement of cash flows 
There have been no material adjustments to the statement of cash flows on transition to NZ IFRS. 
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 non-departmental statements and schedules 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 
The following non-departmental statements and schedules record the income, expenses, assets, 
liabilities, commitments, contingent liabilities, contingent assets and trust accounts that the 
Ministry manages on behalf of the Crown. 

Statement of non-departmental expenses and capital 
expenditure against appropriations 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

Vote Health:
 
Appropriation for output expenses
 
Health and disability support services
 
for District Health Boards (DHBs):
 

332,175 Northland DHB 357,455 359,716 

841,754 Waitemata DHB 948,821 956,500 

796,126 Auckland DHB 839,868 847,907 

799,410 Counties Manukau DHB 857,753 864,630 

646,792 Waikato DHB 715,230 722,456 

208,093 Lakes DHB 219,328 221,855 

417,799 Bay of Plenty DHB 450,604 454,919 

103,625 Tairawhiti DHB 107,134 107,964 

224,352 Taranaki DHB 240,566 243,271 

314,470 Hawke’s Bay DHB 334,875 338,823 

145,386 Whanganui DHB 159,807 161,778 

329,110 MidCentral DHB 350,926 354,834 

255,901 Hutt Valley DHB 267,101 270,151 

478,106 Capital and Coast DHB 509,514 515,047 

88,616 Wairarapa DHB 93,826 95,086 

275,079 Nelson-Marlborough DHB 294,045 297,571 

90,215 West Coast DHB 94,866 96,138 

920,154 Canterbury DHB 960,146 971,660 

116,589 South Canterbury DHB 128,002 129,623 

378,444 Otago DHB 397,813 403,025 

212,137 Southland DHB 223,091 225,631 

Total health and disability support 
7,974,333  services for District Health Boards 8,550,77� 8,638,585 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

359,499 

956,041 

827,325 

864,209 

710,705 

221,788 

454,792 

107,956 

243,144 

338,705 

161,698 

354,710 

270,117 

514,891 

95,075 

297,505 

96,127 

971,608 

129,555 

402,886 

225,589 

8,603,925 

Main Supp. 
Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 

Continues next page . . . 
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Continued from previous page 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

– National disability support services 2.1 834,076 859,563 834,179 
755,028 Disability support services – national – – – 

312,059 Public health services purchasing 2.2 356,911 396,435 359,603 

Management of residual health liabilities 
1,674   and DHB term debt 1,674 1,755 1,674 

– Clincal Training Agency 105,464 103,612 108,404 

– National child health services 38,135 28,768 39,555 

– National elective services 2.3 128,344 201,037 140,309 

– National emergency services 65,146 66,611 65,417 

– National Māori health services 8,613 9,245 8,639 

– National maternity services 2.4 124,624 108,661 109,576 

– National mental health services 2.5 53,351 63,169 60,836 

– National contracted services – other 2.6 77,814 140,508 97,152 

517,366 National services – – – 

320 National advisory and support services 324 340 340 

Monitoring and protecting health and 
12,626    disability consumer interests 13,600 14,076 13,751 

7,533 Meningococcal vaccine 6,487 6,765 6,765 

55,318 Health services funding 2.7 105,717 291,833 132,545 

17,210 Problem gambling 2.8 15,725 17,289 17,289 

Scientific advice to support pest
   management strategies as they 

49    affect public health 49 53 53 

Total appropriations for 
9,653,5�6    non-departmental output expenses �0,539,979 �0,860,49� �0,634,672 

Appropriation for other expenses

   to be incurred by the Crown 


15 Australian Kidney Foundation – 15 15 
2,226 International health organisations 2,197 2,230 2,230 

3,455 Legal expenses 2.9 6,043 1,778 7,958 

13,651 Provider development 13,873 13,889 13,889 

Total appropriations for other expenses 
�9,347    to be incurred by the Crown 22,��3 �7,9�2 24,092 

Continues next page . . . 
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Continued from previous page 

29,800 

73,636 

– 

80,492 

70,000 

10,949 

– 

264,877 

4,092 

4,092 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

Main Supp. 
Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 

Appropriation for capital expenditure 

2,400 Deficit support for DHBs 2.10 – 37,000 
Equity for capital projects for DHBs
 

17,996   and the NZ Blood Service 2.11 
 250,824 83,571 

17,412 Health sector projects – – 

145,600 Loans for capital projects 2.12 109,200 105,692 

– Refinance of DHB private debt 70,000 70,000 

10,430 Residential care loans 2.13 20,000 15,000 

Rollover of Crown Health 
92,253   Funding Authority loans 2.14 392,719 – 

Total appropriations for capital contributions
 
286,09�    to other persons or organisations
 842,743 3��,263 

19,157 Response to significant health emergencies 3,524 4,597 

Total appropriations for purchase or
 
�9,�57 development of capital assets by the Crown
 3,524 4,597 

9,978,��� Total appropriations �0,83�,06� ��,724,670 �0,974,624 

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008. 
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Statement of non-departmental unappropriated 
expenditure and capital expenditure 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

unappropriated Actual Appropriation unappropriated 
expenditure Expenditure Voted expenditure 

2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 $000 $000 $000 

Vote Health 
– National maternity services 124,624 109,576 15,048 

– Total �24,624 �09,576 �5,048 

The unappropriated national maternity services expenditure arose from a significant rise in birth 
rates over that upon which the appropriation was based. 

Approval for the unappropriated expenditure has been granted by the Minister of Health, and 
submitted for formal validation by Parliament within the 2007/08 Financial Review Bill in 
accordance with section 26C of the Public Finance Act 1989.  

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008. 
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Schedule of non-departmental income and capital receipts 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 
Non-departmental revenues and capital receipts are administered by the Ministry on behalf of the 
Crown.  As these revenues are not established by the Ministry nor earned in the production of the 
Ministry’s outputs, they are not reported in the Ministry’s financial statements. 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

Income 
Reimbursement from the ACC+ 

6,275 ACC – reimbursement of complex burns costs 6,576 3,000 6,400 

20,288 ACC – reimbursement of work-related 19,005 19,662 21,504
   public hospital costs 

190,892 ACC – reimbursement of 205,611 185,180 202,523
   non-earners account 

60,967 ACC – reimbursement of earners’ 69,782 56,358 61,636
   non-work-related public hospital costs 

47,704 ACC – reimbursement of motor 53,554 46,687 51,060 
vehicle-related public hospital costs 

ACC – reimbursement of 
2,588    medical misadventure costs 3,739 1,716 1,877 

ACC – reimbursement of 
4,278    self employed work public hospital costs 4,487 5,368 5,871 

332,992 Total ACC reimbursements 2.�5 362,754 3�7,97� 350,87� 

137,572 Payment of capital charge by DHBs 2.16 176,116 199,709 199,709 

9,661 Net surplus/(deficit) from DHBs* (29,657) – (49,250) 

114 Other Crown entities surplus/(deficits)** 873 

524 Crown health financing agency rental 599 278 278 

– Crown health financing agency interest – – – 

61 Miscellaneous 12 – – 

480,924 Total non-departmental income 5�0,697 5�7,958 50�,608 

Capital receipts 
12,780 Repayment of residential care loans 2.17 11,674 24,000 24,000 

380 Repayment of DHB debt 304 – – 

48,999 Equity repayments by DHB's 2.18 12,499 49,445 49,445 

62,�59 Total non-departmental capital receipts 24,477 73,445 73,445 
Total non-departmental Income 

543,083    and capital receipts 535,�74 59�,403 575,053 

+ Accident Compensation Corporation. 

* 	 Based on unaudited financial statements of the 21 District Health Boards', and accordingly have not been reflected in the 
Investments in Crown entities figure within the schedule of non-departmental assets. 

** 	 Based on unaudited financial statements of the other non-DHB health sector Crown entities, and accordingly have not been reflected 
in the Investments in Crown entities figure within the schedule of non-departmental assets. 

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008. 
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Schedule of non-departmental assets 
as at 30 June 2008 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

Assets 

Current Assets 

36,606 Cash and cash equivalents 2.19 65,312 94,584 92,190 

46,142 Inventory 53,216 50,978 46,141 
Debtors and other receivables: 

51,845    District Health Boards 58,237 7,216 – 

160,588    ACC 2.20 300,504 113,677 

1,976    Government departments 1,368 274 

1,550    Others 3,751 77,161 116 

2,843 Prepayments 1,326 2,841 

30�,550 Total current assets 483,7�4 229,939 255,239 

non-current assets 

Advances: 

55,900    Residential care loans 2.21 49,103 70,811 62,058 

4,464    Other advances 2.22 4,547 – – 

Investments: 

2,631   Leasehold land 2,631 2,631 2,631 

23,725   Other investments 23,725 23,725 29,309 

86,720 Total non-current assets 80,006 97,�67 93,998 

388,270 Total non-departmental assets 563,720 327,�06 349,237 

In addition, the Ministry monitors a number of Crown entities (including the 21 DHBs). The 
investment in those entities is recorded within the financial statements of the Government on a 
line-by-line basis. No disclosure is made in this schedule. 

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008. 
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Schedule of non-departmental liabilities 
as at 30 June 2008 

Main Supp. 
Actual Actual estimates estimates 
2007 2008 2008 2008 
$000 note $000 $000 $000 

liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Creditors and other payables: 

2,725    District Health Boards 3,885 3,867 4,269 

–    Other Crown entities – – – 

5,678    Other payables 2.23 2,064 6,745 4,179 

Accrued liabilities and provisions: 

234,795    District Health Boards 2.24 228,156 423 128,489 

1,090    Other Crown entities 2.24 1,300 – – 

182,494    Other accrued liabilities 2.24 182,447 352,984 118,176 

426,782 Total non-departmental liabilities 4�7,852 364,0�9 255,��3 

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008 
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Schedule of non-departmental commitments 
as at 30 June 2008 
The Crown has the following capital and operating contracts for the supply of goods and services. 

Actual Actual 
2007 2008 
$000 $000 

Capital commitments 

622,150 Property, plant and equipment 422,190 

4,390 Intangible assets 530 

4,200 Other capital commitments 4,200 

630,740 Total capital commitments 426,920 

non-cancellable commitments 

9,199,802 Not later than one year 9,763,057 

334,840 Later than one year and not later than five years 222,963 

3,909 Later than five years – 

9,538,55� Total non-cancellable commitments 9,986,020 

�0,�69,29� Total commitments �0,4�2,940 

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008 
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Schedule of non-departmental contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets 
as at 30 June 2008 

unquantified contingent liabilities 

The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no unquantifiable contingent liabilities. 

Quantifiable contingent liabilities 
Actual 
2007 
$000 

Actual 
2008 
$000 

71,404 

7�,404 

Legal proceedings and disputes 

Total quantifiable contingent liabilities 

40,245 

40,245 

legal proceedings and disputes 
Legal claims against the Crown are mainly seeking recompense in relation to perceived issues 
regarding treatment and care. The Crown is in the process of defending these claims.  In the normal 
course of events previous experience indicates that any settlements are likely to be significantly 
less than the claims made. 

Contingent assets 
The Ministry on behalf of the Crown has no contingent assets at 30 June 2008 (2007 nil). 

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008. 
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Statement of trust monies 
for the year ended 30 June 2008 

Actual Actual 
2007 2008 
$000 $000 

District Health Boards Deposit Trust Account* 

300 Balance as at 1 July 2007 83 

4,332,794 Contributions 4,613,868 

(4,332,514) Distributions (4,612,558) 

– Revenue – 

(497) Expenditure (758) 

83 Balance as at 30 June 2008 635 

*	 This trust account was set up to hold funds received from District Health Boards for the delivery of processing services and 
disbursements. 

Another trust account was set up to hold deposits made by those new medicines applications that have been rejected by the 
Medicines Assessment Advisory Committee (MAAC). Deposits are made when they request the Medicines Review Committee to 
consider their objections to recommendations made by MAAC. Once the Medicines Review Committee completes its review, these 
deposits are refunded to depositors subject to the deduction of any costs ordered by the Committee. There were no transactions 
during the year ended 30 June 2008 and the balance remains under $500. 

The accompanying notes on pages 106 to 110 are an integral part of these financial statements and schedules. 

For a full understanding of the Crown’s financial position and the results of its operations for the period, reference should be made to 
the consolidated Financial Statements of the Government for the year ended 30 June 2008. 
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notes to the non-departmental statements and 
schedules 

note �: Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 
30 June 2008 
Reporting entity 
The Non-departmental statements and schedules for the Crown: Vote Health have been prepared 
by the Ministry and present the public funds managed by the Ministry that are not incorporated in 
its financial statements. 

The Ministry is responsible for an effective and efficient management of revenue, expenditure, 
assets and liabilities on behalf of the Crown. These have been produced pursuant to the Public 
Finance Act 1989. 

Measurement system 
The Non-departmental statements and schedules have been prepared on an historical cost basis 
modified by the revaluation of certain assets. 

Revenue and receipts 
Revenue from ACC recoveries and capital charges from District Health Boards is recognised when 
earned and is reported in the financial period to which it relates. 

Debtors and receivables 
Receivables from ACC recoveries are recorded at the value of the contract with ACC. Receivables 
from capital charges are recorded at estimated realisable value. 

Residential care loans 
The carrying value of residential care loans is calculated on an actuarial basis at the present value 
of estimated future cash inflows. In determining the net present value, consideration is given to 
any expected shortfall in loan repayments in future years, which are discounted at risk free rates 
based on government bonds having terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the 
estimated future cash inflows. 

Inventory 
Inventories held for consumption in the provision for services are recorded at the lower of cost 
or current replacement cost. Any write down from cost to replacement cost is recognised in the 
Statement of non-departmental expenses and capital expenditure against apropriations. 

Investments 
Investments are recorded in the Schedule of non-departmental assets at historical cost. The 
carrying value represents the aggregate of equity injections made by the Ministry less subsequent 
repayments of equity returned to the Crown. 
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Payables and provisions 
Payables and provisions are recorded at the estimated obligation to pay. 

Accrued expenses 
Accrued expenses are recorded at either the value of funding entitlements owing under Crown 
Funding Agreements or the estimated value of contracts already started but not yet been 
completed. 

Financial instruments 
The Crown, Vote Health is party to financial instruments as part of its normal operations. These 
financial instruments include bank accounts, short term deposits, debtors and creditors. All 
financial instruments are recognised in the Schedules of non-departmental assets and non
departmental liabilities and all revenues and expenses in relation to financial instruments are 
recognised in the Schedules of non-departmental revenue and non-departmental expenses. 

Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Apart from the usual inclusion of GST within accounts receivable and accounts payable all other 
figures within the other non-departmental statements and schedules are stated exclusive of GST. 

Commitments 
Future expenses and liabilities to be incurred on contracts that have been entered into as at 
balance date are disclosed as commitments to the extent that there are equally unperformed 
obligations. 

Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities are disclosed at the point at which the contingency is evident. 

Changes in accounting policies 
Apart from changes in policies as a result of the transition to NZ IFRS, there have been no changes 
in accounting policies. Apart from those policies affected by the transition to NZ IFRS, all policies 
have been applied on a basis consistent with the previous year. 

note 2: Explanation of major variances against budget 
Explanations for major variances from the Ministry’s non-departmental appropriations within the 
Main Estimates are as follows. 

Schedule of non-departmental expenses and capital expenditure against appropriations 

2.� 	 national disability support services spending was lower than anticipated as a result of 
devolving some services out to DHBs during the year; the most significant related to home 
based care for the 65+ age group ($20.3 million) 

2.2	 Public health services purchasing fell below original budget targets mainly due to 
subsequent transfers of budget to the 2008/09 year to recognise delays in the drinking-
water assistance, and pneumococcal vaccine programmes. 
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2.3	 national elective services appropriation was originally misaligned by over $60 million 
following the 1 July 2007 restructuring of the previous ‘national services’ appropriation, and 
subsequently corrected within the supplementary estimates. The remaining underspend 
arose as a result of DHBs providing lower volumes of elective services than were planned for 
the 2007/08 year. 

2.4	 national maternity services were over spent against its appropriation due to higher than 
expected birth rates. 

2.5	 national mental health services was under spent due to delays in contracting for services 
with providers, and some services being deferred into the 2008/09 year. 

2.6	 national contracted services – other was under the original budget due to the devolving of 
services to DHBs including aged residential care, and pharmaceuticals. Further items under 
spent were funding for disability support, adolescent dental benefit, cancer control, chronic 
disease and diabetes management, and the Public Health Intelligence survey programme. 

2.7	 Health services funding was significantly under spent. This appropriation contains the initial 
pool of funds set aside for future initiatives and risk management. Upon realising during 
the year that not all this appropriation would be required, the amount provided within this 
appropriation was reduced by $159 million. Within the Supplementary Estimates. Further 
under spending from the uptake on demand driven programmes such as Care Plus and the 
Very Low Cost Access scheme, and from subsequent transfers forward into the 2008/09 year. 

2.8	 Problem gambling spending was lower than budget mainly due to delays in contracting for 
services with providers. 

2.9	 legal expenses were lower than provided for due to lower than anticipated legal costs than 
levels covered by the appropriation. 

2.�0	 Deficit support for DHBs was provided to the Capital and Coast ($26.6 million) and 
Whanganui ($3.2 million) DHBs when no requirement was acknowledged within original 
appropriations. 

2.�� 	 Equity for capital projects for DHBs and the nZ Blood Service as provided at significantly 
lower levels than budgeted.  This was because at the time of setting the original budget, the 
timing of DHB capital projects had still to be confirmed by DHBs.  Subsequent adjustment to 
the budget was made within the Supplementary Estimates. 

2.�2	 loans for capital projects being lower than budgeted reflected delays in agreed draw downs 
by DHBs to coincide with their construction projects. 

2.�3	 Residential care loans are demand driven and were granted to significantly fewer applicants 
than foreseen within original 2007/08 estimates. 

2.�4	 Rollover of Crown Health Funding Authority loans, as appropriated within the Main 
Estimates, were no longer required after the Crown Health Financing Agency became able to 
extend DHB loan facilities for up to 10 years. 

Schedule of non-departmental income and capital receipts 

2.�5	 ACC reimbursements are based on demand driven requirement for service provision and 
were higher in most areas than anticipated for 2007/08. 

2.�6	 Payment of capital charge by DHBs did not increase to the extent expected from increases in 
DHB net assets as a result of transition to international financial reporting standards. 

2.�7 Repayment of residential care loans were lower than anticipated due to lower overall loan 
levels and exits being fewer than forecast. 

2.�8 Equity repayments by DHBs were lower than forecast as equity approved by DHBs for  
repayment was less than had been anticipated. 
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Schedule of non-departmental assets 

2.�9 Cash and cash equivalents are lower than expected mainly due to the delays in receiving 
payments from ACC in relation to prior financial years. 

2.20 Debtors and other receivables were subject to classification differences between Main 
estimates and actual figures. Overall the variation arose from amounts remaining unpaid 
by ACC in relation to services delivered by hospitals under ACC claims dating back to the 
2005/06 year for which the Ministry is yet to receive payment.  

2.2� Residential care loans within the Main estimates did not take account of the effect of the 
adjustment to the net present value calculation for valuing the loan portfolio as at 30 June 
2008 required under NZ IFRS. 

2.22 Other advances were not classified separately within the initial forecast financial position. 

Schedule of non-departmental liabilities 

2.23 Other payables were $4.7 million lower than initially forecast due mainly to differences in 
timing of a GST liability being generated upon the raising of invoices to ACC. The forecast 
for June 2008 took account of a GST liability that existed at 30 June 2007 from invoices 
raised within June 2007, while the equivalent invoices for the 2008 year were raised post 
balance date.  

2.24 Accrued liabilities and provisions were not split between DHBs and other accrued liabilities 
within the Main estimates. While total accruals and provisions at 30 June 2008 reduced 
in value as expected within the Main estimates, this was not to the extent anticipated and 
reflected only a minor reduction against the balances at 30 June 2007.  

note 3: Explanation of transition to nZ IFRS 
Reconciliation of assets and liabilities 
The following adjustments to non-departmental recognised assets and liabilities were made upon 
transition to NZ IFRS. 

Inventory 
Under previous NZ GAAP the carrying value of meningococcal vaccine inventory was valued using 
the foreign currency rate applying at the date of each purchase transaction. NZ IAS 2 Inventories 
requires inventories to be valued at the lower of historical cost or net realisable value and 
NZ IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates requires that for non-monetary assets 
measured in a foreign currency, the net realisable value is translated at the exchange rate applying 
at the end of the reporting period. As the net realisable value was lower than historical cost at 
30 June 2007, the effect of transition to NZ IFRS was a reduction in the carrying value of inventory 
by $0.005 million to NZ IFRS at 1 July 2006, and a reduction of $0.020 million at 30 June 2007. 

Advances 
Under previous NZ GAAP residential care loans and other advances were valued based on the 
original loan principal amounts, less loan repayments made. NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement requires these loans to be initially recognised at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate. In accordance with 
NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement residential care loans have been 
valued at fair value using the effective interest method whereby the value at initial recognition less 
repayments to date is revalued at the net present value of expected future repayments. The net 
present value is calculated using market interest rates for instruments with a similar credit rating as 
the discount factor.  
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The effect of the transition to NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
on the carrying value of residential care loans has been a reduction in the total loans balance by 
$11.311 million at 1 July 2006, and an increase in value by $617,000 at 30 June 2007.   

The effect of the transition to NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement on 
the carrying value of other advances has been a reduction in the carrying amount by $2.88 million 
at 1 July 2006, and an increase in value of $0.124 million at 30 June 2007. 

Derivative instrument liability 
At 30 June 2007 the Ministry had in place a forward foreign exchange contract to sell US$1.185 
million and purchase NZ$1.735 million on 23 July 2007.  The difference between the forward cover 
exchange rate of 0.683 cents and the spot rate at balance date of 0.763 cents gave rise to a $0.182 
million derivative instrument liability to be recognised upon the transition from previous NZ GAAP 
to NZ IFRS.  The effect of recognising this derivative instrument liability has been an increase in the 
carrying value of ‘other accrued liabilities’ by $0.182 million as at 30 June 2007. 
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